II.


TURAMBAR AND THE FOALOKE.


The Tale of Turambar, like that of Tinuviel, is a manuscript written in


ink over a wholly erased original in pencil. But it seems certain that the


extant form of Turambar preceded the extant form of Tinuviel. This


can be deduced in more ways than one, but the order of composition is


clearly exemplified in the forms of the name of the King of the Woodland


Elves (Thingol). Throughout the manuscript of Turambar he was origin-


ally Tintoglin (and this appears also in the tale of The Coming of the


Elves, where it was changed to Tinwelint, I. II5, 131). A note on the


manuscript at the beginning of the tale says: 'Tintoglin's name must be


altered throughout to Ellon or Tinthellon = Q. Ellu', but the note was


struck out, and all through the tale Tintoglin was in fact changed to


Tinwelint.


Now in the Tale of Tinuviel the king's name was first given as Ellu (or


Tinto Ellu), and once as Tinthellon (pp. 50-1); subsequently it was


changed throughout to Tinwelint. It is clear that the direction to change


Tintoglin to 'Ellon or Tinthellon = Q. Ellu' belongs to the time when


the Tale of Tinuviel was being, or had been, rewritten, and that the


extant Tale of Turambar already existed.


There is also the fact that the rewritten Tinuviel was followed, at the


same time of composition, by the first form of the 'interlude' in which


Gilfanon appears (see I.203), whereas at the beginning of Turambar


there is a reference to Ailios (who was replaced by Gilfanon) concluding


the previous tale. On the different arrangement of the tale-telling at this


point that my father subsequently introduced but failed to carry through


see 1.229 -- 30. According to the earlier arrangement, Ailios told his tale


on the first night of the feast of Turuhalme or the Logdrawing, and Eltas


followed with the Tale of Turambar on the second.


There is evidence that the Tale of Turambar was in existence at any


rate by the middle of 1919. Humphrey Carpenter discovered a passage,


written on a scrap of proof for the Oxford English Dictionary, in an early


alphabet of my father's devising; and transliterating it he found it to be


from this tale, not far from the beginning. He has told me that my father


was using this version of the 'Alphabet of Rumil' about June 1919 (see


Biography, p. 100).


When then Ailios had spoken his fill the time for the lighting of


candles was at hand, and so came the first day of Turuhalme to an








end; but on the second night Ailios was not there, and being asked


by Lindo one Eltas began a tale, and said:


'Now all folk gathered here know that this is the story of .


Turambar and the Foaloke, and it is,' said he, 'a favourite tale


among Men, and tells of very ancient days of that folk before the


Battle of Tasarinan when first Men entered the dark vales of


Hisilome.


In these days many such stories do Men tell still, and more have


they told in the past especially in those kingdoms of the North that


once I knew. Maybe the deeds of other of their warriors have


become mingled therein, and many matters beside that are not in


the most ancient tale -- but now I will tell to you the true and


lamentable tale, and I knew it long ere I trod Olore Malle in the


days before the fall of Gondolin.


In those days my folk dwelt in a vale of Hisilome and that land


did Men name Aryador in the tongues they then used, but they


were very far from the shores of Asgon and the spurs of the Iron


Mountains were nigh to their dwellings and great woods of very


gloomy trees. My father said to me that many of our older men


venturing afar had themselves seen the evil worms of Melko and


some had fallen before them, and by reason of the hatred of our


people for those creatures and of the evil Vala often was the story


of Turambar and the Foaloke in.their mouths -- but rather after the


fashion of the Gnomes did they say Turumart and the Fuithlug.


For know that before the Battle of Lamentation and the ruin of


the Noldoli there dwelt a lord of Men named Urin, and hearkening


to the summons of the Gnomes he and his folk marched with the


Ilkorindi against Melko, but their wives and children they left


behind them in the woodlands, and with them was Mavwin wife of


Urin, and her son remained with her, for he was not yet war-high.


Now the name of that boy was Turin and is so in all tongues, but


Mavwin do the Eldar call Mavoine.


Now Urin and his followers fled not from that battle as did most


of the kindreds of Men, but many of them were slain fighting to


the last, and Urin was made captive. Of the Noldoli who fought


there all the companies were slain or captured or fled away in rout,


save that of Turondo (Turgon) only, and he and his folk cut a path


for themselves out of that fray and come not into this tale. None-


theless the escape of that great company marred the complete


victory that otherwise had Melko won over his adversaries, and he


desired very greatly to discover whither they had fled; and this he


might not do, for his spies availed nothing, and no tortures at that





time had power to force treacherous knowledge from the captive


Noldoli.


Knowing therefore that the Elves of Kor thought little of Men,


holding them in scant fear or suspicion for their blindness and lack


of skill, he would constrain Urin to take up his employ and go seek


after Turondo as a spy of Melko. To this however neither threats


of torture nor promises of rich reward would bring Urin to con-


sent, for he said: "Nay, do as thou wilt, for to no evil work of thine


wilt thou ever constrain me, 0 Melko, thou foe of Gods and Men."


"Of a surety," said Melko in anger, "to no work of mine will I


bid thee again, nor yet will I force thee thereto, but upon deeds of


mine that will be little to thy liking shalt thou sit here and gaze, nor


be able to move foot or hand against them." And this was the


torture he devised for the affliction of Urin the Steadfast, and


setting him in a lofty place of the mountains he stood beside him


and cursed him and his folk with dread curses of the Valar, putting


a doom of woe and a death of sorrow upon them; but to Urin he


gave a measure of vision, so that much of those things that befell


his wife and children he might see and be helpless to aid, for magic


held him in that high place. "Behold." said Melko, "the life of


Turin thy son shall be accounted a matter for tears wherever Elves


or Men are gathered for the telling of tales"; but Urin said: "At


least none shall pity him for this, that he had a craven for father."


Now after that battle Mavwin got her in tears into the land of


Hithlum or Dor Lomin where all Men must now dwell by the


word of Melko, save some wild few that yet roamed without.


There was Nienori born to her, but her husband Urin languished


in the thraldom of Melko, and Turin being yet a small boy


Mavwin knew not in her distress how to foster both him and his


sister, for Urin's men had all perished in the great affray, and the


strange men who dwelt nigh knew not the dignity of the Lady


Mavwin, and all that land was dark and little kindly.


The next short section of the text was struck through afterwards and


replaced by a rider on an attached slip. The rejected passage reads:


At that time the rumour [written above: memory] of the


deeds of Beren Ermabwed had become noised much in Dor


Lomin, wherefore it came into the heart of Mavwin, for lack of


better counsel, to send Turin to the court of Tintoglin,' begging


him to foster this orphan for the memory of Beren, and to teach


him the wisdom of fays and of Eldar; now Egnor* was akin to


Mavwin and he was the father of Beren the One-handed.











The replacement passage reads:


Amended passage to fit better with the story of Tinuviel and


the afterhistory of the Nauglafring:


The tale tells however that Urin had been a friend of the Elves,


and in this he was different from many of his folk. Now great had


his friendship been with Egnor, the Elf of the greenwood, the


huntsman of the Gnomes, and Beren Ermabwed son of Egnor he


knew and had rendered him a service once in respect of Damrod


his son; but the deeds of Beren of the One Hand in the halls of


Tinwelint' were remembered still in Dor Lomin. Wherefore it


came into the heart of Mavwin, for lack of other counsel, to send


Turin her son to the court of Tinwelint, begging him to foster this


orphan for the memory of Urin and of Beren son of Egnor.'


Very bitter indeed was that sundering, and for long [?time]


Turin wept and would not leave his mother, and this was the first


of the many sorrows that befell him in life. Yet at length when his


mother had reasoned with him he gave way and prepared him in


anguish for that journey. With him went two old men, retainers


aforetime of his father Urin, and when all was ready and the


farewells taken they turned their feet towards the dark hills, and


the little dwelling of Mavwin was lost in the trees, and Turin blind


with tears could see her no more. Then ere they passed out of


earshot he cried out: "0 Mavwin my mother, soon will I come


back to thee" -- but he knew not that the doom of Melko lay


between them.


Long and very weary and uncertain was the road over the dark


hills of Hithlum into the great forests of the Land Beyond where in


those days Tinwelint the hidden king had his abode; and Turin


son of Urin' was the first of Men to tread that way, nor have many


trodden it since. In perils were Turin and his guardians of wolves,


and wandering Orcs that at that time fared even thus far from


Angband as the power of Melko waxed and spread over the


kingdoms of the North. Evil magics were about them, that often


missing their way they wandered fruitlessly for many days, yet in


the end did they win through and thanked the Valar therefor -- yet


maybe it was but part of the fate that Melko wove about their feet,


for in after time Turin would fain have perished as a child there in


the dark woods.


Howso that may be, this was the manner of their coming to

















Tinwelint's halls; for in the woodlands beyond the mountains


they became utterly lost, until at length having no means of


sustenance they were like to die, when they were discovered by a


wood-ranger, a huntsman of the secret Elves, and he was called


Beleg, for he was of great stature and girth as such was among that


folk. Then Beleg led them by devious paths through many dark


and lonely forestlands to the banks of that shadowed stream before


the cavernous doors of Tinwelint's halls. Now coming before that


king they were received well for the memory of Urin the Steadfast,


and when also the king heard of the bond tween Urin and Beren


the One-handed' and of the plight of that lady Mavwin his heart


became softened and he granted her desire, nor would he send


Turin away, but rather said he: "Son of Urin, thou shalt dwell


sweetly in my woodland court, nor even so as a retainer, but


behold as a second child of mine shalt thou be, and all the wisdoms


of Gwedheling and of myself shalt thou be taught."


After a time therefore when the travellers had rested he des-


patched the younger of the two guardians of Turin back unto


Mavwin, for such was that man's desire to die in the service of the


wife of Urin, yet was an escort of Elves sent with him, and such


comfort and magics for the journey as could be devised, and


moreover these words did he bear from Tinwelint to Mavwin:


"Behold 0 Lady Mavwin wife of Urin the Steadfast, not for love


nor for fear of Melko but of the wisdom of my heart and the fate of


the Valar did I not go with my folk to the Battle of Unnumbered


Tears, who now am become a safety and a refuge for all who


fearing evil may find the secret ways that lead to the protection of


my halls. Perchance now is there no other bulwark left against the


arrogance of the Vala of Iron, for men say Turgon is not slain, but


who knoweth the truth of it or how long he may escape? Now


therefore shall thy son Turin be fostered here as my own child


until he is of age to succour thee -- then, an he will, he may depart."


More too he bid the Lady Mavwin, might she o'ercome the


journey, fare back also to his halls, and dwell there in peace; but


this when she heard she did not do, both for the tenderness of her


little child Nienori, and for that rather would she dwell poor


among Men than live sweetly as an almsguest even among the


woodland Elves. It may be too that she clung to that dwelling that


Urin had set her in ere he went to the great war, hoping still faintly


for his return, for none of the messengers that had borne the


lamentable tidings from that field might say that he was dead,


reporting only that none knew where he might be -- yet in truth








those messengers were few and half-distraught, and now the years


were slowly passing since the last blow fell on that most grievous


day. Indeed in after days she yearned to look again upon Turin,


and maybe in the end, when Nienori had grown, had cast aside her


pride and fared over the hills, had not these become impassable


for the might and great magic of Melko, who hemmed all Men in


Hithlum and slew such as dared beyond its walls.


Thus came to pass the dwelling of Turin in the halls of Tin-


welint; and with him was suffered to dwell Gumlin the aged who


had fared with him out of Hithlum, and had no heart or strength


for the returning. Very much joy had he in that sojourn, yet did


the sorrow of his sundering from Mavwin fall never quite away


from him; great waxed his strength of body and the stoutness of


his feats got him praise wheresoever Tinwelint was held as lord,


yet he was a silent boy and often gloomy, and he got not love easily


and fortune did not follow him, for few things that he desired


greatly came to him and many things at which he laboured went


awry. For nothing however did he grieve so much as the ceasing of


all messengers between Mavwin and himself, when after a few


years as has been told the hills became untraversable and the ways


were shut. Now Turin was seven years old when he fared to the


woodland Elves, and seven years he dwelt there while tidings


came ever and anon to him from his mother, so that he heard how


his sister Nienori grew to a slender maid and very fair, and how


things grew better in Hithlum and his mother more in peace; and


then all words ceased, and the years passed.


To ease his sorrow and the rage of his heart, that remembered


always how Urin and his folk had gone down in battle against


Melko, Turin was for ever ranging with the most warlike of the


folk of Tinwelint far abroad, and long ere he was grown to first


manhood he slew and took hurts in frays with the Orcs that


prowled unceasingly upon the confines of the realm and were a


menace to the Elves. Indeed but for his prowess much hurt had


that folk sustained, and he held the wrath of Melko from them for


many years, and after his days they were harassed sorely, and in


the end must have been cast into thraldom had not such great and


dread events befallen that Melko forgot them.


Now about the courts of Tinwelint there dwelt an Elf called


Orgof, and he, as were the most of that king's folk, was an Ilkorin,


yet he had Gnome-blood also. Of his mother's side he was nearly


akin to the king himself, and was in some favour being a good











hunter and an Elf of prowess, yet was he somewhat loose with his


tongue and overweening by reason of his favour with the king; yet


of nothing was he so fain as of fine raiment and of jewels and of


gold and silver ornament, and was ever himself clad most bravely.


Now Turin lying continually in the woods and travailing in far and


lonely places grew to be uncouth of raiment and wild of locks, and


Orgof made jest of him whensoever the twain sat at the king's


board; but Turin said never a word to his foolish jesting, and


indeed at no time did he give much heed to words that were spoken


to him, and the eyes beneath his shaggy brows oftentimes looked


as to a great distance -- so that he seemed to see far things and to


listen to sounds of the woodland that others heard not.


On a time Turin sate at meat with the king, and it was that day


twelve years since he had gazed through his tears upon Mavwin


standing before the doors and weeping as he made his way among


the trees, until their stems had taken her from his sight, and he was


moody, speaking curt answers to those that sat nigh him, and most


of all to Orgof.


But this fool would not give him peace, making a laugh of his


rough clothes and tangled hair, for Turin had then come new from


a long abiding in the woods, and at length he drew forth daintily a


comb of gold that he had and offered it to Turin; and having


drunk well, when Turin deigned not to notice him he said: "Nay,


an thou knowst not how to use a comb, hie thee back to thy


mother, for she perchance will teach thee -- unless in sooth the


women of Hithlum be as ugly as their sons and as little kempt."


Then a fierce anger born of his sore heart and these words con-


cerning the lady Mavwin blazed suddenly in Turin's breast, so


that he seized a heavy drinking-vessel of gold that lay by his right


hand and unmindful of his strength he cast it with great force in


Orgof's teeth, saying: "Stop thy mouth therewith', fool, and prate


no more." But Orgof's face was broken and he fell back with great


weight, striking his head upon the stone of the floor and dragging


upon him the table and all its vessels, and he spake nor prated


again, for he was dead.


Then all men rose in silence, but Turin, gazing aghast upon the


body of Orgof and the spilled wine upon his hand, turned on his


heel and strode into the night; and some that were akin to Orgof


drew their weapons half from their sheaths, yet none struck, for


the king gave no sign but stared stonily upon the body of Orgof,


and very great amaze was in his face. But Turin laved his hands in


the stream without the doors and burst there into tears, saying:











"Lo! Is there a curse upon me, for all I do is ill, and now is it so


turned that I must flee the house of my fosterfather an outlaw


guilty of blood -- nor look upon the faces of any I love again." And


in his heart he dared not return to Hithlum lest his mother be


bitterly grieved at his disgrace, or perchance he might draw the


wrath of the Elves behind him to his folk; wherefore he got himself


far away, and when men came to seek him he might not be found.


Yet they did not seek his harm, although he knew it not, for


Tinwelint despite his grief and the ill deed pardoned him, and the


most of his folk were with him in that, for Turin had long held his


peace or returned courtesy to the folly of Orgof, though stung


often enough thereby, for that Elf being not a little jealous was


used to barb his words; and now therefore the near kinsmen of


Orgof were constrained by fear of Tinwelint and by many gifts to


accept the king's doom.


Yet Turin in unhappiness, believing the hand of all against him


and the heart of the king become that of a foe, crept to the


uttermost bounds of that woodland realm. There he hunted for


his subsistence, being a good shot with the bow, yet he rivalled not


the Elves at that, for rather at the wielding of the sword was he


mightier than they. To him gathered a few wild spirits, and


amongst them was Beleg the huntsman, who had rescued Gumlin


and Turin in the woods aforetime. Now in many adventures were


those twain together, Beleg the Elf and Turin the Man, which are


not now told or remembered but which once were sung in many a


place. With beast and with goblin they warred and fared at times


into far places unknown to the Elves, and the fame of the hidden


hunters of the marches began to be heard among Orcs and Elves,


so that perchance Tinwelint would soon have become aware of the


place of Turin's abiding, had not upon a time all that band of


Turin's fallen into desperate encounter with a host of Orcs who


outnumbered them three times. All were there slain save Turin


and Beleg, and Beleg escaped with wounds, but Turin was over-


borne and bound, for such was the will of Melko that he be brought


to him alive; for behold, dwelling in the halls of Linwe' about


which had that fay Gwedheling the queen woven much magic and


mystery and such power of spells as can come only from Valinor,


whence indeed long time agone she once had brought them, Turin


had been lost out of his sight, and he feared lest he cheat the doom


that was devised for him. Therefore now he purposed to entreat


him grievously before the eyes of Urin; but Urin had called upon


the Valar of the West, being taught much concerning them by the





Eldar of Kor -- the Gnomes he had encountered -- and his words


came, who shall say how, to Manwe Sulimo upon the heights of


Taniquetil, the Mountain of the World. Nonetheless was Turin


dragged now many an evil league in sore distress, a captive of the


pitiless Orcs, and they made slow journeying, for they followed


ever the line of dark hills toward those regions where they rise high


and gloomy and their heads are shrouded in black vapours. There


are they called Angorodin or the Iron Mountains, for beneath the


roots of their northernmost fastnesses lies Angband, the Hells of


Iron, most grievous of all abodes -- and thither were they now


making laden with booty and with evil deeds.


Know then that in those days still was Hithlum and the Lands


Beyond full of the wild Elves and of Noldoli yet free, fugitives of


the old battle; and some wandered ever wearily, and others had


secret and hidden abodes in caves or woodland fastnesses, but


Melko sought untiringly after them and most pitilessly did he


entreat them of all his thralls did he capture them. Orcs and


dragons and evil fays were loosed against them and their lives were


full of sorrow and travail, so that those who found not in the end


the realms of Tinwelint nor the secret stronghold of the king of the


city of stone* perished or were enslaved.


Noldoli too there were who were under the evil enchantments of


Melko and wandered as in a dream of fear, doing his ill bidding,


for the spell of bottomless dread was on them and they felt the eyes


of Melko burn them from afar. Yet often did these sad Elves both


thrall and free hear the voice of Ulmo in the streams or by the


sea-marge where the waters of Sirion mingled with the waves; for


Ulmo, of all the Valar, still thought of them most tenderly and


designed with their slender aid to bring Melko's evil to ruin., Then


remembering the blessedness of Valinor would they at times cast


away their fear, doing good deeds and aiding both Elves and Men


against the Lord of Iron.


Now was it that it came into the heart of Beleg the hunter of the


Elves to seek after Turin so soon as his own hurts were healed.


This being done in no great number of days, for he had a skill of


healing, he made all speed after the band of Orcs, and he had need


of all his craft as tracker to follow that trail, for a band of the


goblins of Melko go cunningly and very light. Soon was he far


beyond any regions known to him, yet for love of Turin he pressed


on, and in this did he show courage greater than the most of that


(* Gondolin.)











woodland folk, and indeed there are none who may now measure


the depth of fear and anguish that Melko set in the hearts of Men


and of Elves in those sad days. Thus did it fall out that Beleg


became lost and benighted in a dark and perilous region so thick


with pines of giant growth that none but the goblins might find a


track, having eyes that pierced the deepest gloom, yet were many


even of these lost long time in those regions; and they were called


by the Noldoli Taurfuin, the Forest of Night. Now giving himself


up for lost Beleg lay with his back to a mighty tree and listened to


the wind in the gaunt tops of the forest many fathoms above him,


and the moaning of the night airs and the creaking of the branches


was full of sorrow and foreboding, and his heart became utterly


weary.


On a sudden he noticed a little light afar among the trees steady


and pale as it were of a glowworm very bright, yet thinking it


might scarce be glowworm in such a place he crept towards it.


Now the Noldoli that laboured in the earth and aforetime had skill


of crafts in metals and gems in Valinor were the most valued of the


thralls of Melko, and he suffered them not to stray far away, and so


it was that Beleg knew not that these Elves had little lanterns of


strange fashion, and they were of silver and of crystal and a flame


of a pale blue burnt forever within, and this was a secret and the


jewel-makers among them alone knew it nor would they reveal it


even to Melko, albeit many jewels and many magic lights they


were constrained to make for him.


Aided by these lamps the Noldoli fared much at night, and


seldom lost a path had they but once trodden it before. So it was


that drawing near Beleg beheld one of the hill-gnomes stretched


upon the needles beneath a great pine asleep, and his blue lantern


stood glimmering nigh his head. Then Beleg awakened him, and


that Elf started up in great fear and anguish, and Beleg learned


that he was a fugitive from the mines of Melko and named himself


Flinding bo-Dhuilin of an ancient house of the Gnomes. Now


falling into talk Flinding was overjoyed to have speech with a free


Noldo, and told many tales of his flight from the uttermost fastness


of the mines of Melko; and at length said he: "When I thought


myself all but free, lo, I strayed at night unwarily into the midmost


of an Orc-camp, and they were asleep and much spoil and weighted


packs they had, and many captive Elves I thought I descried: and


one there was that lay nigh to a trunk to which he was bound most


grievously, and he moaned and cried out bitterly against Melko,


calling on the names of Urin and Mavwin; and though at that time








being a craven from long captivity I fled heedlessly, now do I


marvel much, for who of the thralls of Angband has not known of


Urin the Steadfast who alone of Men defies Melko chained in


torment upon a bitter peak?"


Then was Beleg in great eagerness and sprang to his feet shout-


ing: "'Tis Turin, fosterson of Tinwelint, even he whom I seek,


who was the son of Urin long ago. -- Nay, lead me to this camp, 0


son of Duilin, and soon shall he be free," but Flinding was much


afeared, saying: "Softer words, my Beleg, for the Orcs have ears of


cats, and though a day's march lies between me and that encamp-


ment who knows whether they be not followed after."


Nonetheless hearing the story of Turin from Beleg, despite his


dread he consented to lead Beleg to that place, and long ere the sun


rose on the day or its fainting beams crept into that dark forest they


were upon the road, guided by the dancing light of Flinding's


swinging lamp. Now it happened that in their journeying their


paths crossed that of the Orcs who now were renewing their


march, but in a direction other than that they had for long pur-


sued, for now fearing the escape of their prisoner they made for a


place where they knew the trees were thinner and a track ran for


many a league easy to pursue; wherefore that evening, or ever they


came to the spot that Flinding sought, they heard a shouting and a


rough singing that was afar in the woods but drawing near; nor did


they hide too soon ere the whole of that Orc-band passed nigh to


them, and some of the captains were mounted upon small horses,


and to one of these was Turin tied by the wrists so that he must


trot or be dragged cruelly. Then did Beleg and Flinding follow


timorously after as dusk fell on the forest, and when that band


encamped they lurked near until all was quiet save the moaning of


the captives. Now Flinding covered his lamp with a pelt and they


crept near, and behold the goblins slept, for it was not their wont


to keep fire or watch in their bivouacs, and for guard they trusted


to certain fierce wolves that went always with their bands as dogs


with Men, but slept not when they camped, and their eyes shone


like points of red light among the trees. Now was Flinding in sore


dread, but Beleg bid him follow, and the two crept between the


wolves at a point where there was a great gap between them, and as


the luck of the Valar had it Turin was lying nigh, apart from the


others, and Beleg came unseen to his side and would cut his


bonds, when he found his knife had dropped from his side in his


creeping and his sword he had left behind without the camp.


Therefore now, for they dare not risk the creeping forth and back





again, do Beleg and Flinding both stout men essay to carry him


sleeping soundly in utter weariness stealthily from the camp, and


this they did, and it has ever been thought a great feat, and few


have done the like in passing the wolf guards of the goblins and


despoiling their camps.


Now in the woods at no great distance from the camp they laid


him down, for they might not bear him further, seeing that he was


a Man and of greater stature than they," but Beleg fetched his


sword and would cut his bonds forthwith. The bonds about his


wrists he severed first and was cutting those upon the ankles when


blundering in the dark he pricked Turin's foot deeply, and Turin


awoke in fear. Now seeing a form bend over him in the gloom


sword in hand and feeling the smart of his foot he thought it was


one of the Orcs come to slay him or to torment him -- and this they


did often, cutting him with knives or hurting him with spears; but


now Turin feeling his hand free leapt up and flung all his weight


suddenly upon Beleg, who fell and was half-crushed, lying speech-


less on the ground; but Turin at the same time seized the sword


and struck it through Beleg's throat or ever Flinding might know


what had betid. Then Turin leapt back and shouting out curses


upon the goblins bid them come and slay him or taste of his sword,


for he fancied himself in the midst of their camp, and thought not


of flight but only of selling his life dear. Now would he have made


at Flinding, but that Gnome sprang back, dropping his lamp, so


that its cover slipped and the light of it shone forth, and he called


out in the tongue of the Gnomes that Turin should hold-his hand


and slay not his friends -- then did Turin hearing his speech pause,


and as he stood, by the light of the lamp he saw the white face of


Beleg lying nigh his feet with pierced throat, and he stood as one


stricken to stone, and such was the look upon his face that Flinding


dared not speak for a long while. Indeed little mind had he for


words, for by that light had he also seen the fate of Beleg and was


very bitter in heart. At length however it seemed to Flinding that


the Orcs were astir, and so it was, for the shouts of Turin had come


to them; wherefore he said to Turin: "The Orcs are upon us, let us


flee," but Turin answered not, and Flinding shook him, bidding


him gather his wits or perish, and then Turin did as he was bid but


yet as one dazed, and stooping he raised Beleg and kissed his


mouth.


Then did Flinding guide Turin as well as he might swiftly from


those regions, and Turin wandered with him following as he led,


and at length for a while they had shaken off pursuit and could











breathe again. Now then did Flinding have space to tell Turin


all he knew and of his meeting with Beleg, and the floods of


Turin's tears were loosed, and he wept bitterly, for Beleg had been


his comrade often in many deeds; and this was the third anguish


that befell Turin, nor did he lose the mark of that sorrow utterly in


all his life; and long he wandered with Flinding caring little


whither he went, and but for that Gnome soon would he have been


recaptured or lost, for he thought only of the stark face of Beleg the


huntsman, lying in the dark forest slain by his hand even as he cut


the bonds of thraldom from him.


In that time was Turin's hair touched with grey, despite his few


years. Long time however did Turin and the Noldo journey


together, and by reason of the magic of that lamp fared by night


and hid by day and were lost in the hills, and the Orcs found them


not.


Now in the mountains there was a place of caves above a stream,


and that stream ran down to feed the river Sirion, but grass grew


before the doors of the caves, and these were cunningly concealed


by trees and such magics as those scattered bands that dwelt


therein remembered still. Indeed at this time this place had grown


to be a strong dwelling of the folk and many a fugitive swelled


them, and there the ancient arts and works of the Noldoli came


once more to life albeit in a rude and rugged fashion.


There was smithying in secret and forging of good weapons,


and even fashioning of some fair things beside, and the women


spun once more and wove, and at times was gold quarried privily


in places nigh, where it was found, so that deep in those caverns


might vessels of beauty be seen in the flame of secret lights, and


old songs were faintly sung. Yet did the dwellers in the caves flee


always before the Orcs and never give battle unless compelled by


mischance or were they able to so entrap them that all might be


slain and none escape alive; and this they did of policy that no


tidings reach Melko of their dwelling nor might he suspect any


numerous gathering of folk in those parts.


This place however was known to the Noldo Flindirig who fared


with Turin; indeed he was once of that people long since, before


the Orcs captured him and he was held in thraldom. Thither did


he now wend being sure that the pursuit came no longer nigh


them, yet went he nonetheless by devious ways, so that it was long


ere they drew nigh.to that region, and the spies and watchers of the


Rodothlim (for so were that folk named) gave warning of their





approach, and the folk withdrew before them, such as were abroad


from their dwelling. Then they closed their doors and hoped that


the strangers might not discover their caves, for they feared and


mistrusted all unknown folk of whatever race, so evil were the


lessons of that dreadful time.


Now then Flinding and Turin dared even to the caves' mouths,


and perceiving that these twain knew now the paths thereto the


Rodothlim sallied and made them prisoners and drew them within


their rocky halls, and they were led before the chief, Orodreth.


Now the free Noldoli at that time feared much those of their kin


who had tasted thraldom, for compelled by fear and torture and


spells much treachery had they wrought; even thus did the evil


deeds of the Gnomes at Copas Alqalunten find vengeance,' setting


Gnome against Gnome, and the Noldoli cursed the day that ever


they first hearkened to the deceit of Melko, rueing utterly their


departure from the blessed realm of Valinor.


Nonetheless when Orodreth heard the tale of Flinding and


knew it to be true he welcomed him with joy back among the folk,


yet was that Gnome so changed by the anguish of his slavery that


few knew him again; but for Flinding's sake Orodreth hearkened


to the tale of Turin, and Turin told of his travails and named Urin


as his sire, nor had the Gnomes yet forgot that name. Then was


the heart of Orodreth made kind and he bade them dwell among


the Rodothlim and be faithful to him. So came the sojourn of


Turin among the people of the caves, and he dwelt with Flinding


bo-Dhuilin and laboured much for the good of the folk, and slew


many a wandering Orc, and did doughty deeds in their defence. In


return much did he learn of new wisdom from them, for memories


of Valinor burnt yet deep in their wild hearts, and greater still was


their wisdom than that of such Eldar as had seen never the blest


faces of the Gods.


Among that people was a very fair maiden and she was named


Failivrin, and her father was Galweg; and this Gnome had a liking


for Turin and aided him much, and Turin was often with him in


ventures and good deeds. Now many a tale of these did Galweg


make beside his hearth and Turin was often at his board, and the


heart of Failivrin became moved at the sight of him, and wondered


often at his gloom and sadness, pondering what sorrow lay locked


in his breast, for Turin went not gaily being weighted with the


death of,Beleg that he felt upon his head, and he suffered not his


heart to be moved, although he was glad of her sweetness; but he


deemed himself an outlawed man and one burdened with a heavy
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doom of ill. Therefore did Failivrin become sorrowful and wept in


secret, and she grew so pale that folk marvelled at the whiteness


and delicacy of her face and her bright eyes that shone therein.


Now came a time when the Orc-bands and the evil things of


Melko drew ever nigher to the dwelling of this folk, and despite


the good spells that ran in the stream beneath it seemed like that


their abode would remain no longer hidden. It is said however


that during all this time the dwelling of Turin in the caves and


his deeds among the Rodothlim were veiled from Melko's eyes,


and that he infested not the Rodothlim for Turin's sake nor out


of design, but rather it was the ever increasing numbers of these


creatures and their growing power and fierceness that brought


them so far afield. Nonetheless the blindness and ill-fortune that


he wove of old clung yet to Turin, as may be seen.


Each day grew the brows of the chiefs of the Rodothlim more


dark, and dreams came to them" bidding them arise and depart


swiftly and secretly, seeking, if it might be, after Turgon, for with


him might yet salvation be found for the Gnomes. Whispers too


there were in the stream at eve, and those among them skilled


to hear such voices added their foreboding at the councils of the


folk. Now at these councils had Turin won him a place by dint of


many valorous deeds, and he gainsaid their fears, trusting in his


strength, for he lusted ever for war with the creatures of Melko,


and he upbraided the men of the folk, saying: "Lo! Ye have


weapons of great excellence of workmanship, and yet are the most


of them clean of your foes' blood. Remember ye the Battle of


Uncounted Tears and forget not your folk that there fell, nor seek


ever to flee, but fight and stand."


Now despite the wisdom of their wisest such bitter words


confused their counsels and delayed them, and there were no few


of the stout-hearted that found hope in them, being sad at the


thought of abandoning those places where they had begun to make


an abiding place of peace and goodliness; but Turin begged


Orodreth for a sword, and he had not wielded a sword since the


slaying of Beleg, but rather had he been contented with a mighty


club. Now then Orodreth let fashion for him a great sword, and it


was made by magic to be utterly black save at its edges, and those


were shining bright and sharp as but Gnome-steel may be. Heavy


it was, and was sheathed in black, and it hung from a sable belt,


and Turin named it Gurtholfin the Wand of Death; and often that


blade leapt in his hand of its own lust, and it is said that at times it


spake dark words to him. Therewith did he now range the hills,











and slew unceasingly, so that Blacksword of the Rodothlim became


a name of terror to the Orcs, and for a great season all evil was


fended from the caverns of the Gnomes. Hence comes that name


of Turin's among the Gnomes, calling him Mormagli or Mormakil


according to their speech, for these names signify black sword.


The greater however did Turin's valour become so grew the


love of Failivrin more deep, and did men murmur against him in


his absence she spake for him, and sought ever to minister to him,


and her he treated ever courteously and happily, saying he had


found a fair sister in the Gnome-lands. By Turin's deeds however


was the ancient counsel of the Rodothlim set aside and their abode


made known far and wide, nor was Melko ignorant of it, yet many


of the Noldoli now fled to them and their strength waxed and


Turin was held in great honour among them. Then were days of


great happiness and for a while men lived openly again and might


fare far abroad from their homes in safety, and many boasted of


the salvation of the Noldoli, while Melko gathered in secret his


great hordes. These did he loose suddenly upon them at unawares,


and they gathered their warriors in great haste and went against


him, but behold, an army of Orcs descended upon them, and


wolves, and Orcs mounted upon wolves; and a great worm was


with them whose scales were polished bronze and whose breath


was a mingled fire and smoke, and his name was Glorund." All the


men of the Rodothlim fell or were taken in that battle, for the foe


was numberless, and that was the most bitter affray since the evil


field of Ninin-Udathriol.* Orodreth was there sorely hurt and


Turin bore him out of the fight ere yet all was ended, and with the


aid of Flinding whose wounds were not great" he got him to the


caves.


There died Orodreth, reproaching Turin that he had ever


withstood his wise counsels, and Turin's heart was bitter at the


ruin of the folk that was set to his account." Then leaving Lord


Orodreth dead Turin went to the places of Galweg's abiding, and


there was Failivrin weeping bitterly at the tidings of her father's


death, but Turin sought to comfort her, and for the pain of.


her heart and the sorrow of her father's death and of the ruin


of her folk she swooned upon his breast and cast her arms about


(* At the bottom of the manuscript page is written:


'Nieriltasinwa the battle of unnumbered tears


Glorund laurundo or Undolaure'


Later Glorund and Laurundo were emended to Glorunt and Laurunto.)








him. So deep was the ruth of Turin's heart that in that hour he


deemed he loved her very dearly; yet were now he and Flinding


alone save for a few aged carles and dying men, and the Orcs


having despoiled the field of dead were nigh upon them.


Thus stood Turin before the doors with Gurtholfin in hand,


and Flinding was beside him; and the Orcs fell on that place and


ransacked it utterly, dragging out all the folk that lurked therein


and all their goods, whatsoever of great or little worth might there


lie hid. But Turin denied the entrance of Galweg's dwelling to


them, and they fell thick about him, until a company of their


archers standing at a distance shot a cloud of arrows at him. Now


he wore chainmail such as all the warriors of the Gnomes have ever


loved and still do wear, yet it turned not all those ill shafts, and


already was he sore hurt when Flinding fell pierced suddenly


through the eye; and soon too had he met his death -- and his weird


had been the happier thereby -- had not that great drake coming


now upon the sack bidden them cease their shooting; but with the


power of his breath he drove Turin from those doors and with the


magic of his eyes he bound him hand and foot.


Now those drakes and worms are the evillest creatures that


Melko has made, and the most uncouth, yet of all are they the


most powerful, save it be the Balrogs only. A great cunning


and wisdom have they, so that it has been long said amongst


Men that whosoever might taste the heart of a dragon would


know all tongues of Gods or Men, of birds or beasts, and his


ears would catch whispers of the Valar or of Melko such as never


had he heard before. Few have there been that ever achieved a


deed of such prowess as the slaying of a drake, nor might any


even of such doughty ones taste their blood and live, for it is


as a poison of fires that slays all save the most godlike in strength.


Howso that may be, even as their lord these foul beasts love lies


and lust after gold and precious things with a great fierceness of


desire, albeit they may not use nor enjoy them.


Thus was it that this loke (for so do the Eldar name the worms


of Melko) suffered the Orcs to slay whom they would and to gather


whom they listed into a very great and very sorrowful throng of


women, maids, and little children, but all the mighty treasure that


they had brought from the rocky halls and heaped glistering in the


sun before the doors he coveted for himself and forbade them set


finger on it, and they durst not withstand him, nor could they have


done so an they would.


In that sad band stood Failivrin in horror, and she stretched out





her arms towards Turin, but Turin was held by the spell of the


drake, for that beast had a foul magic in his glance, as have many


others of his kind, and he turned the sinews of Turin as it were to


stone, for his eye held Turin's eye so that his will died, and he


could not stir of his own purpose, yet might he see and hear.


Then did Glorund taunt Turin nigh to madness, saying that lo!


he had cast away his sword nor had the heart to strike a blow for his


friends -- now Turin's sword lay at his feet whither it had slipped


from his unnerved grasp. Great was the agony of Turin's heart


thereat, and the Orcs laughed at him, and of the captives some


cried bitterly against him. Even now did the Orcs begin to drive


away that host of thralls, and his heart broke at the sight, yet he


moved not; and the pale face of Failivrin faded afar, and her voice


was borne to him crying: "0 Turin Mormakil, where is thy heart;


0 my beloved, wherefore dost thou forsake me?" So great then


became Turin's anguish that even the spell of that worm might not


restrain it, and crying aloud he reached for the sword at his feet


and would wound the drake with it, but the serpent breathed a


foul and heated breath upon him, so that he swooned and thought


that it was death.


A long time thereafter, and the tale telleth not how long,


he came to himself, and he was lying gazing at the sun before


the doors, and his head rested against a heap of gold even as the


ransackers had left it. Then said the drake, who was hard by:


"Wonderest thou not wherefore I have withheld death from thee,


O Turin Mormakil, who wast once named brave?" Then Turin


remembered all his griefs and the evil that had fallen upon him,


and he said: "Taunt me not, foul worm, for thou knowest I would


die; and for that alone, methinks, thou slayest me not."


But the drake answered saying: "Know then this, 0 Turin son


of Urin, that a fate of evil is woven about thee, and thou mayst not


untangle thy footsteps from it whitherever thou goest. Yea indeed,


I would not have thee slain, for thus wouldst thou escape very


bitter sorrows and a weird of anguish." Then Turin leaping


suddenly to his feet and avoiding that beast's baleful eye raised


aloft his sword and cried: "Nay, from this hour shall none name


me Turin if I live. Behold, I will name me a new name and it shall


be Turambar!" Now this meaneth Conqueror of Fate, and the


form of the name in the Gnome-speech is Turumart. Then uttering


these words he made a second time at the drake, thinking indeed to


force the drake to slay him and to conquer his fate by death, but


the dragon laughed, saying: "Thou fool! An I would, I had slain





thee long since and could do so here and now, and if I will not thou


canst not do battle with me waking, for my eye can cast once more


the binding spell upon thee that thou stand as stone. Nay, get thee


gone, 0 Turambar Conqueror of Fate! First thou must meet thy


doom an thou wouldst o'ercome it." But Turambar was filled with


shame and anger, and perchance he had slain himself, so great was


his madness, although thus might he not hope that ever his spirit


would be freed from the dark glooms of Mandos or stray into the


pleasant paths of Valinor;" but amidst his misery he bethought


him of Failivrin's pallid face and he bowed his head, for the


thought came into his heart to seek back through all the woods


after her sad footsteps even be it to Angamandi and the Hills of


Iron. Maybe in that desperate venture he had found a kindly and


swift death or perchance an ill one, and maybe he had rescued


Failivrin and found happiness, yet not thus was he fated to earn


the name he had taken anew, and the drake reading his mind


suffered him not thus lightly to escape his tide of ill.


"Hearken to me, 0 son of Urin," said he; "ever wast thou a


coward at heart, vaunting thyself falsely before men. Perchance


thou thinkest it a gallant deed to go follow after a maiden of strange


kin, recking little of thine own that suffer now terrible things?


Behold, Mavwin who loves thee long has eagerly awaited thy


return, knowing that thou hast found manhood a while ago, and


she looks for thy succour in vain, for little she knows that her son is


an outlaw stained with the blood of his comrades, a defiler of his


lord's table. Ill do men entreat her, and behold the Orcs infest now


those parts of Hithlum, and she is in fear and peril and her


daughter Nienori thy sister with her."


Then was Turambar aflame with sorrow and with shame for the


lies of that worm were barbed with truth, and for the spell of his


eyes he believed all that was said. Therefore his old desire to see


once more Mavwin his mother and to look upon Nienori whom he


had never seen since his first days" grew hot within him, and with


a heart torn with sorrow for the fate of Failivrin he turned his feet


towards the hills seeking Dor Lomin, and his sword was sheathed.


And truly is it said: "Forsake not for anything thy friends -- nor


believe those who counsel thee to do so" -- for of his abandoning of


Failivrin in danger that he himself could see came the very direst


evil upon him and all he loved; and indeed his heart was con-


founded and wavered, and he left those places in uttermost shame


and weariness. But the dragon gloated upon the hoard and lay


coiled upon it, and the fame of that great treasure of golden vessels





and of unwrought gold that lay by the caves above the stream fared


far and wide about; yet the great worm slept before it, and evil


thoughts he had as he pondered the planting of his cunning lies


and the sprouting thereof and their growth and fruit, and fumes of


smoke went up from his nostrils as he slept.


On a time therefore long afterward came Turambar with great


travail into Hisilome, and found at length the place of the abode of


his mother, even the one whence he had been sundered as a child,


but behold, it was roofless and the tilth about it ran wild. Then his


heart smote him, but he learned of some that dwelt nigh that


lighting on better days the Lady Mavwin had departed some years


agone to places not far distant where was a great and prosperous


dwelling of men, for that region of Hisilome was fertile and men


tilled the land somewhat and many had flocks and herds, though


for the most part in the dark days after the great battle men feared


to dwell in settled places and ranged the woods and hunted or


fished, and so it was with those kindreds about the waters of Asgon


whence after arose Tuor son of Peleg.


Hearing these words however Turambar was amazed, and


questioned them concerning the wandering into those regions of


Orcs and other fierce folk of Melko, but they shook their heads,


and said that never had such creatures come hither deep into the


land of Hisilome." "If thou wishest for Orcs then go to the hills


that encompass our land about," said they, "and thou wilt not


search long. Scarce may the wariest fare in and out so constant is


their watch, and they infest the rocky gates of the land that the


Children of Men be penned for ever in the Land of Shadows; but


men say 'tis the will of Melko that they trouble us not here -- and


yet it seems to us that thou hast come from afar, and at this we


marvel, for long is it since one from other lands might tread this


way." Then Turambar was in perplexity at this and he doubted


the deceit of the dragon's words, yet he went now in hope to the


dwelling of men and the house of his mother, and coming upon


homesteads of men he was easily directed thither. Now men


looked strangely at his questioning, and indeed they had reason,


yet were such as he spoke to in great awe and wonder at him and


shrank back from speech with him, for his garb was of the wild


woods and his hair was long and his face haggard and drawn as


with unquenchable sorrows, and therein burnt fiercely his dark


eyes beneath dark brows. A collar of fine gold he wore and his


mighty sword was at his side, and men marvelled much at him;








and did any dare to question him he named himself Turambar son


of the weary forest,* and that seemed but the more strange to


them.


Now came he to the dwelling of Mavwin, and behold it was a


fair house, but none dwelt there, and grass was high in the


gardens, and there were no kine in the byres nor horses in


the sheds, and the pastures about were silent and empty. Only the


swallows had dwelling beneath the timbers of the eaves and these


made a noise and a bustle as if departure for autumn was at hand,


and Turambar sat before the carven doors and wept. And one who


was passing on to other dwellings, for a track passed nigh to that


homestead, espied him, and coming asked him his grief, and


Turambar said that it was bitter for a son sundered for many years


from his home to give up all that was dear and dare the dangers of


the infested hills to find only the halls of his kindred empty when


he returned at last.


"Nay, then this is a very trick of Melko's," said the other, "for of


a truth here dwelt the Lady Mavwin wife of Urin, and yet is she


gone two years past very secretly and suddenly, and men say that


she seeks her son who is lost, and that her daughter Nienori goes


with her, but I know not the story. This however I know, and


many about here do likewise, and cry shame thereon, for know


that the guardianship of all her goods and land she gave to Brodda,


a man whom she trusted, and he is lord of these regions by men's


consent and has to wife a kinswoman of hers. But now she is long


away he has mingled her herds and flocks, small as they were, with


his mighty ones, branding them with his own marks, yet the


dwelling and stead of Mavwin he suffereth to fall to ruin, and men


think ill of it but move not, for the power of Brodda has grown to


be great."


Then Turambar begged him to set his feet upon the paths to


Brodda's halls, and the man did as he desired, so that Turambar


striding thither came upon them just as night fell and men sat to


meat in that house. Great was the company that night and the light


of many torches fell upon them, but the Lady Airin was not there,


for men drank overmuch at Brodda's feasts and their songs were


fierce and quarrels blazed about the hall, and those things she


loved not. Now Turambar smote upon the gates and his heart was


black and a great wrath was in him, for the words of the stranger


before his mother's doors were bitter to him.


A note on the manuscript referring to this name reads: 'Turumart-go-Dhraethodauros


[emended to bo-Dhrauthodavros] or Turambar Rusitaurion.')











Then did some open to his knocking and Turambar' strode into


that hall, and Brodda bade him be seated and ordered wine and


meats to be set before him, but Turambar would neither eat nor


drink, so that men looking askance upon his sullenness asked him


who he might be. Then Turambar stepping out into the midst of


them before the high place where Brodda sat said: "Behold, '1


am Turambar son of the forest", and men laughed thereat, but


Turambar's eyes were full of wrath. Then said Brodda in doubt:


"What wilt thou of me, 0 son of the wild forest?" But Turambar


said: "Lord Brodda, I am come to repay thy stewardship of others'


goods," and silence fell in that place; but Brodda laughed, saying


again: "But who art thou?" And thereupon Turambar leapt upon


the high place and ere Brodda might foresee the act he drew


Gurtholfin and seizing Brodda by the locks all but smote his head


from off his body, crying aloud: "So dieth the rich man who


addeth the widow's little to his much. Lo, men die not all in the


wild woods, and am I not in truth the son of Urin, who having


sought back unto his folk findeth an empty hall despoiled." Then


was there a great uproar in that hall, and indeed though he was


burdened overmuch with his many griefs and wellnigh distraught,


yet was this deed of Turambar violent and unlawful. Some were


there nonetheless that would not unsheathe their weapons, saying


that Brodda was a thief and died as one, but many there were that


leapt with swords against Turambar and he was hard put to it, and


one man he slew, and it was Orlin. Then came Airin of the long


hair in great fear into the halls and at her voice men stayed their


hands; but great was her horror when she saw the deeds that were


done, and Turambar turned his face away and might not look


upon her, for his wrath was grown cold and he was sick and weary.


But she hearing the tale said: "Nay, grieve not for me, son


of Urin, but for thyself; for my lord was a hard lord and cruel


and unjust, and men might say somewhat in thy defence, yet


behold thou hast slain him now at his board being his guest, and


Orlin thou hast slain who is of thy mother's kin; and what shall be


thy doom?" At those words some were silent and many shouted


"death", but Airin said that it was not wholly in accord with the


laws of that place, "for," said she, "Brodda was slain wrongfully,


yet just was the wrath of the slayer, and Orlin too did he slay in


defence, though it were in the hall of a feast. Yet now I fear that


this man must get him swiftly from among us nor ever set foot


upon these lands again, else shall any man slay him; but those


lands and goods that were Urin's shall Brodda's kin hold, save only











do Mavwin and Nienori return ever from their wandering, yet


even so may Turin son of Urin inherit nor part nor parcel of them


ever." Now this doom seemed just to all save Turambar, and they


marvelled at the equity of Airin whose lord lay slain, and they


guessed not at the horror of her life aforetime with that man; but


Turambar cast his sword upon the floor and bade them slay him,


yet they would not for the words of Airin whom they loved, and


Airin suffered it not for the love of Mavwin, hoping yet to join


those twain mother and son in happiness, and her doom she had


made to satisfy men's anger and save Turin from death. "Nay,"


said she, "three days do I give thee to get thee out of the land,


wherefore go!" and Turambar lifting his sword wiped it, saying:


"Would I were clean of his blood," and he went forth into the


night. In the folly of his heart now did he deem himself cut off in


truth for ever from Mavwin his mother, thinking that never again


would any he loved be fain to look upon him. Then did he thirst


for news of his mother and sister and of none might he ask, but


wandered back over the hills knowing only that they sought him


still perchance in the forests of the Lands Beyond, and no more


did he know for a long while.


Of his wanderings thereafter has no tale told, save that after


much roaming his sorrow grew dulled and his heart dead, until at


last in places very far away many a journey beyond the river of the


Rodothlim he fell in with some huntsmen of the woods, and these


were Men. Some of that company were thanes of Urin, or sons of


them, and they had wandered darkly ever since that Battle of


Tears, but now did Turambar join their number, and built his life


anew so well as he might. Now that people had houses in a more


smiling region of the woods in lands that were not utterly far from


Sirion or the grassy hills of that river's middle course, and


they were hardy men and bowed not to Melko, and Turambar got


honour among them.


Now is it to tell that far other had matters fallen out with


Mavwin than the Foaloke had said to Turin, for her days turning


to better she had peace and honour among the men of those


regions. Nonetheless her grief at the loss of her son by reason of


the cutting off of all messengers deepened only with the years,


albeit Nienori grew to a most fair and slender maid. At the time of


Turin's flight from the halls of Tinwelint she was already twelve"


years old and tall and beautiful.


Now the tale tells not the number of days that Turambar





sojourned with the Rodothlim but these were very many, and


during that time Nienori grew to the threshold of womanhood,


and often was there speech between her and her mother of Turin


that was lost. In the halls of Tinwelint too the memory of


Turin lived still, and there still abode Gumlin, now decrepit in


years, who aforetime had been the guardian of Turin's childhood


upon that first journey to the Lands Beyond. Now was Gumlin


white-haired and the years were heavy on him, but he longed


sorely for a sight once more of the folk of Men and of the Lady


Mavwin his mistress. On a time then Gumlin learnt of the with-


drawal from the hills of the greater number of those Orc-bands


and other fierce beings of Melko's that had for so long made them


impassable to Elves and Men. Now for a space were the hills and


the paths that led over them far and wide free of his evil, for Melko


had at that time a great and terrible project afoot, and that was the


destruction of the Rodothlim and of many dwellings of the Gnomes


beside, that his spies had revealed," yet all the folk of those regions


breathed the freer for a while, though had they known all perchance


they had not done so.


Then Gumlin the aged fell to his knees before Tinwelint and


begged that he suffer him to depart homeward, that he might see


his mistress of old ere death took him to the halls of- Mandos -- if


indeed that lady had not fared thither before him. Then the king"


said yea, and for his journey he gave him two guides for the


succouring of his age; yet those three, Gumlin and the woodland


Elves, made a very hard journey, for it was late winter, and yet


would Gumlin by no means abide until spring should come.


Now as they drew nigh to that region of Hisilome where afore-


time Mavwin had dwelt and nigh where she dwelt yet a great snow


fell, as happened oft in those parts on days that should rather have


been ones of early spring. Therein was Gumlin whelmed, and his


guides seeking aid came unawares upon Mavwin's house, and


calling for aid of her were granted it. Then by the aid of the folk of


Mavwin was Gumlin found and carried to the house and warmed


back to life, and coming to himself at length he knew Mavwin and


was very joyful.


Now when he was in part healed he told his tale to Mavwin, and


as he recounted the years and the doughtiest of the feats of Turin


she was glad, but great was her sorrow and dismay at the tidings of


his sundering from Linwe" and the manner of it, and going from


Gumlin she wept bitterly. Indeed for long and since ever she knew


that Turin, an he lived, had grown to manhood she had wondered





that he sought not back to her, and often dread had filled her heart


lest attempting this he had perished in the hills; but now the truth


was bitter to bear and she was desolate for a great while, nor might


Nienori comfort her.


Now by reason of the unkindness of the weather those guides


that had brought Gumlin out of Tinwelint's realms abode as her


guests until spring came, but with spring's first coming Gumlin


died.


Then arose Mavwin and going to several of the chiefs of those


places she besought their aid, telling them the tale of Turin's fate


as Gumlin had told it to her. But some laughed, saying she was


deceived by the babblings of a dying man, and the most said that


she was distraught with grief, and that it would be a fool's counsel


to seek beyond the hills a man who had been lost for years agone:


"nor," said they, "will we lend man or horse to such a quest, for all


our love for thee, 0 Mavwin wife of Urin."


Then Mavwin departed in tears but railed not at them, for she


had scant hope in her plea and knew that wisdom was in their


words. Nonetheless being unable to rest she came now to those


 guides of the Elves, who chafed already to be away beneath the


sun; and she said to them: "Lead me now to your lord," and they


would dissuade her, saying that the road was no road for a woman's


feet to tread; yet she did not heed them. Rather did she beg of her


friend whose name was Airin Faiglindra* (long-tressed) and was


wed to Brodda a lord of that region, and rich and powerful, that


Nienori might be taken under the guardianship of her husband


and all her goods thereto. This did Airin obtain of Brodda without


great pleading, and when she knew this she would take farewell


of her daughter; but her plan availed little, for Nienori stood


 before her mother and said: "Either thou goest not, 0 Mavwin my


mother, or go we both," nor would anything turn her from those


words. Therefore in the end did both mother and daughter make


them ready for that sore journey, and the guides murmured much


thereat. Yet it so happened that the season which followed that


bitter winter was very kindly, and despite the forebodings of the


guides the four passed the hills and made their long journey with


no greater evils than hunger and thirst.


Coming therefore at length before Tinwelint Mavwin cast her-


self down and wept, begging pardon for Turin and compassion


and aid for herself and Nienori; but Tinwelint bade her arise and


(* In the margin is written Firilanda.)





seat herself beside Gwedheling his queen, saying: "Long years


ago was Turin thy son forgiven, aye, even as he left these halls,


and many a weary search have we made for him. No outlawry of


mine was it that took him from this realm, but remorse and


bitterness drew him to the wilds, and there, methinks, evil things


o'ertook him, or an he lives yet I fear me it is in bondage to the


Orcs." Then Mavwin wept again and implored the king to give her


aid, for she said: "Yea verily I would fare until the flesh of my feet


were worn away, if haply at the journey's end I might see the face


of Turin son of Urin my well-beloved." But the king said that he


knew not whither she might seek her son save in Angamandi, and


thither he might not send any of his lieges, not though his heart


were full of ruth for the sorrow of Urin's folk. Indeed Tinwelint


spoke but as he believed just, nor meant he to add to Mavwin's


sorrow save only to restrain her from so mad and deadly a quest,


but Mavwin hearing him spake no word more, and going from him


went out into the woods and suffered no one to stay her, and only


Nienori followed her whithersoever she went.


Now the folk of Tinwelint looked with pity on those twain and


with kindness, and secretly they watched them, and unbeknown


kept much harm from them, so that the wandering ladies of the


woods became familiar among them and dear to many, yet were


they a sight of ruth, and folk swore hatred to Melko and his works


who saw them pass. Thus came it that after many moons Mavwin


fell in with a band of wandering Gnomes, and entering into


discourse with them the tale was told to her of the Rodothlim,


such as those Gnomes knew of it, and of the dwelling of Turin


among them. Of the whelming of that abode of folk by the hosts of


Melko and by the dragon Glorund they told too, for those deeds


were then new and their fame went far and wide. Now Turin they


named not by name, calling him Mormakil, a wild man who fled


from the face of Tinwelint and escaped thereafter from the hands


of the Orcs.


Then was the heart of Mavwin filled with hope and she ques-


tioned them more, but the Noldoli said that they had not heard


that any came alive out of that ransacking save such as were haled


to Angamandi, and then again was Mavwin's hope dashed low.


Yet did she nonetheless get her back to the king's halls, and telling


her tale besought his aid against the Foaloke. Now it was Mavwin's


thought that perchance Turin dwelt yet in the thraldom of the


dragon and it might fall to them in some manner to liberate him,


or again should the prowess of the king's men suffice then might








they slay the worm in vengeance for his evils, and so at his death


might he speak words of knowledge concerning the fate of Turin,


were he indeed no longer nigh the caverns of the Rodothlim. Of


the mighty hoard that that worm guarded Mavwin recked little,


but she spake much of it to Tinwelint, even as the Noldoli had


spoken of it to her. Now the folk of Tinwelint were of the wood-


lands and had scant wealth, yet did they love fair and beauteous


things, gold and silver and gems, as do all the Eldar but the


Noldoli most of all; nor was the king of other mind in this, and his


riches were small, save it be for that glorious Silmaril that many a


king had given all his treasury contained if he might possess it.


Therefore did Tinwelint answer: "Now shalt thou have aid, 0


Mavwin most steadfast, and, openly I say it to thee, it is not for


hope of freeing Turin thereby that I grant it to thee, for such hope


I do not see in this tale, but rather the death of hope. Yet it is a


truth that I have need and desire of treasury, and it may be that


such shall come to me by this venture; yet half of the spoil shalt


thou have 0 Mavwin for the memory of Urin and Turin, or else


shalt thou ward it for Nienori thy daughter." Then said Mavwin:


"Nay, give me but a woodman's cot and my son," and the king


answered: "That I cannot, for I am but a king of the wild Elves,


and no Vala of the western isles."


Then Tinwelint gathered a picked band of his warriors and


hunters and told them his bidding, and it seemed that the name of


the Foaloke was known already among them, and there were many


who could guide the band unto the regions of his dwelling, yet was


that name a terror to the stoutest and the places of his abode a land


of accursed dread. Now the ancient dwellings of the Rodothlim


were not utterly distant from the realm of Tinwelint, albeit far


enough, but the king said to Mavwin: "Bide now and Nienori also


with me, and my men shall fare against the drake, and all that they


do and find in those places will they faithfully report," -- and his


men said: "Yea, we will do thy bidding, 0 King," but fear stood in


their eyes.


Then Mavwin seeing it said: "Yea, 0 King, let Nienori my


daughter bide indeed at the feet of Gwedheling the Queen, but I


who care not an I die or live will go look upon the dragon and find


my son"; and Tinwelint laughed, yet Gwedheling and Nienori


fearing that she spake no jest pled earnestly with her. But she was


as adamant, fearing lest this her last hope of rescuing Turin come


to nought through the terror of Tinwelint's men, and none might


move her. "Of love, I know," said she, "come all -the words ye





speak, yet give me rather a horse to ride and if ye will a sharp knife


for my own death at need, and let me be gone." Now these words


struck amazement into those Elves that heard, for indeed the


wives and daughters of Men in those days were hardy and their


youth lasted a great span, yet did this seem a madness to all.


Madder yet did it seem when Nienori, seeing the obstinacy of


her mother, said before them all: "Then I too will go; whither my


mother Mavwin goeth thither more easily yet shall I, Nienori


daughter of Urin, fare"; but Gwedheling said to the king that he


allow it not, for she was a fay and perchance foresaw dimly what


might be.


Then had Mavwin ended the dispute and departed from the


king's presence into the woods, had not Nienori caught at her robe


and stayed her, and so did all plead with Mavwin, till at length it


was agreed that the king send a strong party against the Foaloke


and that Nienori and Mavwin ride with them until the regions of


the beast be found. Then should they seek a high place whence


they might see something of the deeds yet in safety and secrecy,


while the warriors crept upon the worm to slay it. Now of this high


place a woodsman told, and often had he gazed therefrom upon


the dwelling of the worm afar. At length was that band of dragon-


slayers got ready, and they were mounted upon goodly horses


swift and sure-going, albeit few of those beasts were possessed by


the folk of the woods. Horses too were found for Nienori and for


Mavwin, and they rode at the head of the warriors, and folk


marvelled much to see their bearing, for the men of Urin and those


amongst whom Nienori was nurtured were much upon horses,


and both knave and maid among them rode even in tender years.


After many days' going came now that cavalcade within view of


a place that once had been a fair region, and through it a swift river


ran over a rocky bed, and of one side was the brink of it high and


tree-grown and of the other the land was more level and fertile and


broad-swelling, but beyond the high bank of the river the hills


drew close. Thither as they looked they saw that the land had


become all barren and was blasted for a great distance about the


ancient caverns of the Rodothlim, and the trees were crushed to


the earth or snapped. Toward the hills a black heath stretched and


the lands were scored with the great slots that that loathly worm


made in his creeping.


Many are the dragons that Melko has loosed upon the world and


some are more mighty than others. Now the least mighty -- yet


were they very great beside the Men of those days -- are cold as is





the nature of snakes and serpents, and of them a many having


wings go with the uttermost noise and speed; but the mightier are


hot and very heavy and slow-going, and some belch flame, and fire


flickereth beneath their scales, and the lust and greed and cunning


evil of these is the greatest of all creatures: and such was the


Foaloke whose burning there set all the places of his habitation in


waste and desolation. Already greater far had this worm waxen


than in the days of the onslaught upon the Rodothlim, and greater


too was his hoarded treasure, for Men and Elves and even Orcs he


slew, or enthralled that they served him, bringing him food to


slake his lust [? on] precious things, and spoils of their harryings to


swell his hoard.


Now was that band aghast as they looked upon that region from


afar, yet they prepared them for battle, and drawing lots sent one


of their number with Nienori and Mavwin to that high place"


upon the confines of the withered land that had been named, and it


was covered with trees, and might be reached by hidden paths.


Even as those three rode thither and the warriors crept stealthily


toward the caves, leaving their horses that were already in a sweat


of fear, behold the Foaloke came from his lair, and sliding down


the bank lay across the stream, as often was his wont. Straightway


great fog and steams leapt up and a stench was mingled therein, so


that that band was whelmed in vapours and well-nigh stifled, and


they crying to one another in the mist displayed their presence to


the worm; and he laughed aloud. At that most awful of all sounds


of beasts they fled wildly in the mists, and yet they could not


discover their horses, for these in an extremity of terror broke


loose and fled.


Then Nienori hearing far cries and seeing the great mist roll


toward them from the river turned back with her mother to the


place of sundering, and there alighting waited in great doubt.


Suddenly came that blind mist upon them as they stood, and with


it came flying madly the dim horses of the huntsmen. Then their


own catching their terror trampled to death that Elf who was their


escort as he caught at the flying bridles, and wild with fear they


sped to the dark woods and never more bore Man or Elf upon their


saddles; but Mavwin and Nienori were left alone and succourless


upon the borders of the places of fear. Very perilous indeed was


their estate, and long they groped in the mist and knew not where


they were nor saw they ever any of the band again, and only pale





voices seemed to pass them by afar crying out as in dread, and then


all was silent. Now did they cling together and being weary





stumbled on heedless whither their steps might go, till on a


sudden the sun gleamed thin above them, and hope returned to


them; and behold the mists lifted and the airs became clearer and


they stood not far from the river. Even now it smoked as it were


hot, and behold the Foaloke lay there and his eyes were upon


them.


No word did he speak nor did he move, but his baleful eye held


their gaze until the strength seemed to leave their knees and their


minds grew dim. Then did Nienori drag herself by a might of will


from that influence for a while, and "Behold," she cried, "0


serpent of Melko, what wilt thou with us -- be swift to say or do, for


know that we seek not thee nor thy gold but one Turin who dwelt


here upon a time." Then said the drake, and the earth quaked at


him: "Thou liest -- glad had ye been at my death, and glad thy


band of cravens who now flee gibbering in the woods might they


have despoiled me. Fools and liars, liars and cravens, how shall ye


slay or despoil Glorund the Foaloke, who ere his power had waxen


slew the hosts of the Rodothlim and Orodreth their lord, devouring


all his folk.".


"Yet perchance," said Nienori, "one Turin got him from that


fray and dwells still here beneath thy bonds, an he has not


escaped thee and is now far hence," and this she said at a venture,


hoping against hope, but said the evil one: "Lo! the names of all


who dwelt here before the taking of the caves of my wisdom I


know, and I say to thee that none who named himself Turin went


hence alive." And even so was Turin's boast subtly turned against


him, for these beasts love ever to speak thus, doubly playing with


cunning words.


"Then was Turin slain in this evil place," said Mavwin, but the


dragon answered: "Here did the name of Turin fade for ever from


the earth -- but weep not, woman, for it was the name of a craven


that betrayed his friends." "Foul beast, cease thy evil sayings,"


said Mavwin; "slayer of my son, revile not the dead, lest thine


own bane come upon thee." "Less proud must be thy words, O


Mavwin, an thou wilt escape torment or thy daughter with thee,"


did that drake answer, but Mavwin cried: "0 most accursed, lo! I


fear thee not. Take me an thou wilt to thy torments and thy


bondage, for of a truth I desired thy death, but suffer only Nienori


my daughter to go back to the dwellings of Men: for she came


hither constrained by me, and knowing not the purposes of our


journey."


"Seek not to cajole me, woman," sneered that evil one. "Liever











would I keep thy daughter and slay thee or send thee back to thy


hovels, but I have need of neither of you." With those words he


opened full his evil eyes, arid a light shone in them, and Mavwin


and Nienori quaked beneath them and a swoon came upon their


minds, and them seemed that they groped in endless tunnels of


darkness, and there they found not one another ever again, and


calling only vain echoes answered and there was no glimmer of


light.


When however after a time that she remembered not the black-


ness left the mind of Nienori, behold the river and the withered


places of the Foaloke were no more about her, but the deep


woodlands, and it was dusk. Now she seemed to herself to awake


from dreams of horror nor could she recall them, but their dread


hung dark behind her mind, and her memory of all past things was


dimmed. So for a long while she strayed lost in the woods, and


haply the spell alone kept life in her, for she hungered bitterly and


was athirst, and by fortune it was summer, for her garments


became torn and her feet unshod and weary, and often she wept,


and she went she knew not whither.


Now on a time in an opening in the wood she descried a


campment as it were of Men, and creeping nigh by reason of


hunger to espy it she saw that they were creatures of a squat and


unlovely stature that dwelt there, and most evil faces had they,


and their voices and their laughter was as the clash of stone and


metal. Armed they were with curved swords and bows of horn,


and she was possessed with fear as she looked upon them, although


she knew not that they were Orcs, for never had she seen those evil


ones before. Now did she turn and flee, but was espied, and one let


fly a shaft at her that quivered suddenly in a tree beside her as she


ran, and others seeing that it was a woman young and fair gave


chase whooping and calling hideously. Now Nienori ran as best


she might for the density of the wood, but soon was she spent and


capture and dread thraldom was very near, when one came crashing


through the woods as though in answer to her lamentable cries.


Wild and black was his hair yet streaked with grey, and his face


was pale and marked as with deep sorrows of the past, and in his


hand he bare a great sword whereof all but the very edge was


black. Therewith he leapt against the following Orcs and hewed


them, and they soon fled, being taken aback, and though some


shot arrows at random amidst the trees they did little scathe, and


five of them were slain.


Then sat Nienori upon a stone and for weariness and the





lessened strain of fear sobs shook her and she could not speak; but


her rescuer stood beside her awhile and marvelled at her fairness


and that she wandered thus lonely in the woods, and at length he


said: "0 sweet maiden of the woods, whence comest thou, and


what may be thy name?"


"Nay, these things I know not," said she. "Yet methinks I stray


very far from my home and folk, and many very evil things have


fallen upon me in the way, whereof nought but a cloud hangs upon


my memory -- nay, whence I am or whither I go I know not" -- and


she wept a fresh, but that man spake, saying:" Then behold, I will


call thee Niniel, or little one of tears," and thereat she raised her


face towards his, and it was very sweet though marred with


weeping, and she said with a look of wonderment:" Nay, not


Niniel, not Niniel." Yet more might she not remember, and her


face filled with distress, so that she cried: "Nay, who art thou,


warrior of the woods; why troublest thou me?" "Turambar am I


called," said he, "and no home nor kindred have I nor any past to


think on, but I wander for ever," and again at that name that


maiden's wonder stirred.


"Now," said Turambar, "dry thy tears, 0 Niniel, for thou hast


come upon such safety as these words afford. Lo, one am I now of


a small folk of the forest, and a sweet dwelling in a clearing have


we far from hence, but today as thy fortune would we fared


a-hunting, -- aye, and Orc-harrying too, for we are hard put to it to


fend those evil ones from our homes."


Then did Niniel ( for thus Turambar called her ever, and she


learnt to call it her name) fare away with him to his comrades, and


they asking little got them upon horses, and Turambar set Niniel


before him, and thus they fared as swift as they might from the


danger of the Orcs.


Now at the time of the affray of Turambar with the pursuing


Orcs was half the day already spent, yet were they already leagues


upon their way ere they dismounted once more, and it was then


early night. Already at the sunset had it seemed to Niniel that the


woods were lighter and less gloomy and the air less evil-laden than


behind. Now did they make a camp in a glade and the stars shone


clear above where the tree-roof was thin, but Niniel lay a little apart


and they gave her many fells to keep her from the night chills, and


thus she slept more softly than for many a night and the breezes


kissed her face, but Turambar told his comrades of the meeting in


the wood and they wondered who she might be or how she came


wandering thither as one under a spell of blind forgetfulness.





Next day again they pressed on and so for many journeys more


beside until at length weary and fain for rest they came one noon to


a woodland stream, and this they followed for some way until,


behold, they came to a place where it might be forded by reason of


its shallowness and of the rocks that stood up in its course; but on


their right it dived in a great fall and fell into a chasm, and


Turambar pointing said: <Now are we nigh to home, for this is the


fall of the Silver Bowl," but Niniel not knowing why was filled


with a dread and could not look upon the loveliness of that


foaming water. Now soon came they to places of thinner trees and


to a slope whereon but few grew save here and there an ancient oak


of great girth, and the grass about their feet was soft, for the


 clearing had been made many years and was very wide. There


stood also a cluster of goodly houses of timber, and a tilth was


about them and trees of fruit. To one of these houses that was


adorned with strange rude carvings, and flowers bloomed bright


 about it, did Turambar lead now Niniel. "Behold," said he, "my


abode -- there an thou listest thou shalt abide for now, but methinks


it is a lonely hall, and there be houses of this folk beside where


 there are maidens and womenfolk, and there wouldst thou liever


and better be." So came it afterward that Nienori dwelt with the


wood-rangers," and after a while entered the house of Bethos,


a stout man who had fought though then but a boy in the


Battle of Unnumbered Tears. Thence did he escape, but his


wife was a Noldo-maiden, as the tale telleth, and very fair, and


fair also were his sons and daughters save only his eldest son


' Tamar Lamefoot.


Now as the days passed Turambar grew to love Niniel very


greatly indeed, and all the folk beside loved her for her great


 loveliness and sweetness, yet was she ever half-sorrowful and


often distraught of mind, as one that seeks for something mislaid


that soon she must discover, so that folk said: "Would that the


Valar would lift the spell that lies upon Niniel." Nonetheless for


the most part she was happy indeed among the folk and in the


house of Bethos, and each day she grew ever fairer, and Tamar


Lamefoot who was held of little account loved her though in vain.


Now came days when life once more seemed to contain joy to


 Turambar, and the bitterness of the past grew dim and far away,


and a fresh love was in his heart. Then did he think to put his fate


 (* In the margin, apparently with reference to the word 'wood-rangers', is written


Vettar.)





for ever from him and live out his life there in the woodland homes


with children about him, and looking upon Niniel he desired to


wed her. Then did he often press his suit with her, yet though he


was a man of valiance and renown she delayed him, saying nor yea


nor no, yet herself she knew not why, for it seemed to her heart


that she loved him deeply, fearing for him were he away, and


knowing happiness when he was nigh.


Now it was a custom of that folk to obey a chief, and he was


chosen by them from their stoutest men, and that office did he


hold until of his own will he laid it down again being sick or gone in


years, or were he slain. And at that time Bethos was their chief;


but he was slain by evil luck in a foray not long after -- for despite


his years he still rode abroad -- and it fell out that a new captain


must be chosen. In the end then did they name Turambar, for his


lineage, in that it was known among them that he was son of Urin,


was held in esteem among those stout rebels against Melko,


whereas" he had beside become a very mighty man in all deeds and


one of wisdom great beyond his years, by reason of his far wander-


ings and his dealings with the Elves.


Seeing therefore the love of their new chief for Niniel and


thinking they knew that she loved him also in return, those men


began to say how they would lief see their lord wed, and that it was


folly to delay for no good cause; but this word came to the ears of


Niniel, and at length she consented to be the wife of Turambar,


and all were fain thereat. A goodly feast was made and there was


song and mirth, and Niniel became lady of the woodland-rangers


and dwelt thereafter in Turambar's house. There great was their


happiness, though there lay at times a chill foreboding upon


Niniel's heart, but Turambar was in joy and said in his heart:


"'Twas well that I did name myself Turambar, for lo! I have


overcome the doom of evil that was woven about my feet." The


past he laid aside and to Niniel he spoke not overmuch of bygone


things, save of his father and mother and the sister he had not


seen, but always was Niniel troubled at such talk and he knew not


why." But of his flight from the halls of Tinwelint and the death of 


Beleg and of his seeking back to Hisilome he said never a word,


and the thought of Failivrin lay locked in his deepest heart well-


nigh forgotten.


Naught ever might Niniel tell him of her days before, and did he


ask her distress was written on her face as though he troubled the


surface of dark dreams, and he grieved at times thereat, but it


weighed not much upon him.











Now fare the days by and Niniel and Turambar dwell in peace,


but Tamar Lamefoot wanders the woods thinking the world an ill


and bitter place, and he loved Niniel very greatly nor might he


stifle his love. But behold, in those days the Foaloke waxed fat,


and having many bands of Noldoli and of Orcs subject to him he


thought to extend his dominion far and wide. Indeed in many


places in those days these beasts of Melko's did in like manner,


setting up kingdoms of terror of their own that flourished beneath


 the evil mantle of Melko's lordship. So it was that the bands of


Glorund the drake harried the folk of Tinwelint very grievously,


and at length there came some nigh even to those woods and glades


that were beloved of Turambar and his folk.


Now those woodmen fled not but dealt stoutly with their foes,


 and the wrath of Glorund the worm was very great when tidings


 were brought to him of a brave folk of Men that dwelt far beyond


 the river and that his marauders might not subdue them. It is told


 indeed that despite the cunning of his evil designs he did not yet


know where was the dwelling of Turambar or of Nienori; and of


truth in those days it seemed that fortune smiled on Turambar


awhile, for his people waxed and they became prosperous, and


 many escaped even from uttermost Hisilome and came unto him,


and store of wealth and good things he gathered, for all his


battles brought him victory and booty. Like a king and queen did


Turambar and Niniel become, and there was song and mirth in


 those glades of their dwelling, and much happiness in their halls.


And Niniel conceived."


Much of this did spies report to the Foaloke, and his wrath was


terrible. Moreover his greed was mightily kindled, so that after


pondering much he set a guard that he might trust to watch his


dwelling and his treasury, and the captain of these was Mim the


dwarf." Then leaving the caves and the places of his sleep he


 crossed the streams and drew into the woods, and they blazed


before his face. Tidings of this came swiftly to Turambar, but he


feared not as yet nor indeed heeded the tale much, for it was a very


great way from the home of the woodmen to the caverns of the


worm. But now sank Niniel's heart, and though she knew not


wherefore a weight of dread and sorrow lay upon her, and seldom


 after the coming of that word did she smile, so that Turambar


', wondered and was sad.


Now draweth the Foaloke during that time through the deep


woods and a path of desolation lies behind, and yet in his creeping


a very great while passes, until, behold, suddenly a party of the





woodmen come upon him unawares sleeping in the woods among


the broken trees. Of these several were overcome by the noxious


breath of the beast and after were slain; but two making their


utmost speed brought tidings to their lord that the tale aforetime


had not been vain, and indeed now was the drake crept even


within the confines of his realm; and so saying they fell fainting


before his feet.


Now the place where the dragon lay was low-lying and a little


hill there was, not far distant, islanded among the trees but itself


not much wooded, whence might be espied albeit afar off much of


that region now torn by the passage of the drake. A stream there


was too that ran through the forest in that part between the drake


and the dwellings of the woodmen, but its course ran very nigh to


the dragon and it was a narrow stream with banks deep-cloven and


o'erhung with trees. Wherefore Turambar purposed now to take


his stoutest men to that knoll and watch if they could the dragon's


movements in secret, that perchance they might fall upon him at


some disadvantage and contrive to slay him, for in this lay their


best hope. This band he suffered not to be very great, and the rest


at his bidding took arms and scoured about, fearing that hosts of


the Orcs were come with the worm their lord. This indeed was not


so, and he came alone trusting in his overwhelming power.


Now when Turambar made ready to depart then Niniel begged


to ride beside him and he consented, for he loved her and it was his


thought that if he fell and the drake lived then might none of that


people be saved, and he would liever have Niniel by him, hoping


perchance to snatch her at the least from the clutches of the worm,


by death at his own or one of his liege's hands.


So rode forth together Turambar and Niniel, as that folk knew


them, and behind were a score of good men. Now the distance to


that knoll among the woods they- compassed in a day's journey,


and after them though it were against the bidding and counsel of


Turambar there stole a great concourse of his folk, even women


and children. The lure of a strange dread held them, and some


thought to see a great fight, and others went with the rest thinking


little, nor did any think to see what in the end their eyes saw; and


they followed not far behind, for Turambar's party went slowly


and warily. When first then Turambar suffered her to ride beside


him Niniel was blither than for long she had been, and she


brightened the foreboding of those men's hearts; but soon they


came to a place not far from the foot of the knoll, and there her


heart sank, and indeed a gloom fell upon all.








Yet very fair was that place, for here flowed that same stream


that further down wound past the dragon's lair in a deep bed


cloven deep into the earth; and it came rushing cold from the hills


beyond the woodmen's homes, and it fell over a great fall where


the water-worn rock jutted smooth and grey from amid the grass.


Now this was the head of that force which the woodmen named


the Silver Bowl, and aforetime Turambar and Niniel had passed it


by, faring home first from the rescuing of Niniel. The height of


that fall was very great and the waters had a loud and musical


voice, splashing into a silver foam far below where they had worn a


great hollow in the rocks; and this hollow was o'ershadowed by


trees and bushes, but the sun gleamed through upon the spray;


 and about the head of the fall there was an open glade and a green


 sward where grew a wealth of flowers, and men loved that spot.


Here did Niniel of a sudden weep, and casting herself upon


Turambar begged him tempt not fate but rather fly with her and


all his folk, leading them into distant lands. But looking at her he


said: "Nay, Niniel mine, nor thou nor I die this day, nor yet


 tomorrow, by the evil of the dragon or by the foemen's swords,"


but he knew not the fulfilment of his words; and hearing them


Niniel quelled her weeping and was very still. Having therefore


 rested a while here those warriors afterward climbed the hill and


Niniel fared with them. Afar off they might see from its summit a


wide tract where all the trees were broken and the lands were


hurt and scorched and the earth black, yet nigh the edge of the


trees that were still unharmed, and that was not far from the lip of


the deep river-chasm, there arose a thin smoke of great blackness,


and men said: "There lieth the worm."


Then were counsels of many a kind spoken upon that hill-top,


 and men feared to go openly against the dragon by day or by night


or whether he waked or slept, and seeing their dread Turambar


 gave them a rede, and it was taken, and these were his words: "Well


 have ye said, 0 huntsmen of the woods, that not by day or by night


shall men hope to take a dragon of Melko unawares, and behold


this one hath made a waste about him, and the earth is beaten flat


so that none may creep near and be hidden. Wherefore whoso hath


 the heart shall come with me and we will go down the rocks to the


 foot of the fall, and so gaining the path of the stream perchance we


may come as nigh to the drake as may be. Then must we climb if


we are able up under the near bank and so wait, for methinks the


Foaloke will rest not much longer ere he draweth on towards our


dwellings. Thus must he either cross this deep stream or turn far





out of his ways, for he is grown too mighty to creep along its bed.


Now I think not that he will turn aside, for it is but a ditch, a


narrow rut filled with trickling water, to the great Foaloke of the


golden caves. If however he belie my counsel and come not on by


this path, some few of you must take courage in your hearts,


striving to decoy him warily back across the stream, that there we


who lie hid may give him his bane stabbing from beneath, for the


armour of these vile worms is of little worth upon their bellies."


Now of that band were there but six that stood forward readily


to go with Turambar, and he seeing that said that he had thought


there were more than six brave men among his folk, yet after that


he would not suffer any of the others to go with him, saying that


better were the six without the hindrance of the fearful. Then did


Turambar take farewell of Niniel and they kissed upon the hilltop,


and it was then late afternoon, but Niniel's heart went as to stone


with grief; and all that company descended to the head of Silver


Bowl, and there she beheld her lord climb to the fall's bottom with


his six companions. Now when he was vanished far below she


spake bitterly to those who had dared not to go, and they for shame


answered not but crept back unto the hill-top and gazed out


towards the dragon's lair, and Niniel sat beside the water looking


before her, and she wept not but was in anguish.


None stayed beside her save Tamar alone who had fared un-


bidden with that company, and he had loved her since first she


dwelt in Bethos' halls, and once had thought to win her ere


Turambar took her. The lameness of Tamar was with him from


childhood, yet was he both wise and kindly, though held of little


account among those folk, to whom strength was safety and valour


the greatest pride of men. Now however did Tamar bear a sword,


and many had scoffed at him for that, yet he took joy at the chance


of guarding Niniel, albeit she noticed him not.


Now is it to tell that Turambar reached the place of his design


after great labour in the rocky bed of the stream, and with his men


clambered with difficulty up the steep side of that ravine. Just


below the lip of it they were lodged in certain overhanging trees,


and not far off they might hear the great breathing of the beast,


and some of his companions fell in dread.


Already had darkness come and all the night they clung there,


and there was a strange flickering where the dragon lay and dread


noises and a quaking if he stirred, and when dawn came Turambar


saw that he had but three companions, and he cursed the others


for their cravenhood, nor doth any tale tell whither those un-








faithful ones fled. On this day did all come to pass as Turambar


had thought, for the drake bestirring himself drew slowly to the


chasm's edge and turned not aside, -but sought to overcreep it and


come thus at the homes of the woodmen. Now the terror of his


oncoming was very great, for the earth shook, and those three


feared lest the trees that upheld them should loosen their roots and


fall into the rocky stream below. The leaves too of those trees that


grew nigh were shrivelled in the serpent's breath, yet were they


not hurt because of the shelter of the bank.


At length did the drake reach the stream-edge and the sight of


his evil head and dripping jaws was utterly hideous, and these they


saw clearly and were in terror lest he too espy them, for he crossed


not over at the spot where Turambar had chosen to lie hid because


of the narrowness here of the chasm and its lesser depth. Rather he


began to heave himself now across the ravine a little below them,


and so slipping from their places Turambar and his men reached


as swiftly as might be the stream's bed and came beneath the belly


of the worm. Here was the heat so great and so vile the stench that


his men were taken with a sore dread and durst not climb the bank


again. Then in his wrath Turambar would have turned his sword


against them, but they fled, and so was it that alone he scaled the


 wall until he came close beneath the dragon's body, and he reeled


by reason of the heat and of the stench and clung to a stout bush.


Then abiding until a very vital and unfended spot was within


stroke, he heaved up Gurtholfin his black sword and stabbed with


 all his strength above his head, and that magic blade of the


Rodothlim went into the vitals of the dragon even to the hilt, and


 the yell of his death-pain rent the woods and all that heard it were


aghast.


Then did that drake writhe horribly and the huge spires of his


 contortions were terrible to see, and all the trees he brake that


stood nigh to the place of his agony. Almost had he crossed the


chasm when Gurtholfin pierced him, and now he cast himself


 upon its farther bank and laid all waste about him, and lashed and


coiled and made a yelling and a bellowing such that the stoutest


blenched and turned to flee. Now those afar thought that this was


the fearsome noise of battle betwixt the seven, Turambar and his


comrades," and little they hoped ever to see any of them return,


and Niniel's heart died within her at the sounds; but below in the


ravine those three cravens who had watched Turambar from afar


fled now in terrror back towards the fall, and Turambar clung


nigh to the lip of the chasm white and trembling, for he was spent.











At length did those noises of horror cease, and there arose


a great smoking, for Glorund was dying. Then in utter hardihood


did Turambar creep out alone from his hiding, for in the agony


of the Foaloke his sword was dragged from his hand ere he


might withdraw it, and he cherished Gurtholfin beyond all his


possessions, for all things died, or man or beast, whom once its


edges bit. Now Turambar saw where the dragon lay, and he was


stretched out stiff upon his side, and Gurtholfin stood yet in his


belly; but he breathed still.


Nonetheless Turambar creeping up set his foot upon his body


and withdrew Gurtholfin hardly with all his strength, and as he


did so he said in the triumph of his heart: "Now do we meet again,


0 Glorund, thou and I, Turambar, who was once named brave";"


but even as he spake the evil blood spouted from that wound upon


his hand and burnt it, and it was withered, so that for the sudden


pain he cried aloud. Then the Foaloke opening his dread eyes,


looked upon him, and he fell in a swoon beside the drake and his 


sword was under him.


Thus did the day draw on and there came no tidings to the


hill-top, nor could Niniel longer bear her anguish but arose


and made as to leave that glade above the waterfall, and Tamar


Lamefoot said: "What dost thou seek to do?" but she: "I would


seek my lord and lay me in death beside him, for methinks he is


dead", and he sought to dissuade her but without avail. And even


as evening fell that' fair lady crept through the woods and she


would not that Tamar should follow her, but seeing that he did so


she fled blindly through the trees, tearing her clothes and marring


her face in places of thorny undergrowth, and Tamar being lame


could not keep up with her. So fell night upon the woods and all


was still, and a great dread for Niniel fell upon Tamar, so that he


cursed his weakness and his heart was bitter, yet did he cease not


to follow so swiftly as he might, and losing sight of her he bent 


his course towards that part of the forest nigh to the ravine where


had been fought the worm's last fight, for indeed that might be


perceived by the watchers on the hill. Now rose a bright moon


when the night was old, and Tamar, wandering often alone far and


wide from the woodmen's homes, knew those places, and came at


last to the edge of that desolation that the dragon had made in his


agony; but the moonlight was very bright, and staying among the


bushes near the edge of that place Tamar heard and saw all that


there betid.


Behold now Niniel had reached those places not long before





him, and straightway did she run fearless into the open for love of


her lord, and so found him lying with his withered hand in a swoon


across his sword; but the beast that lay hugely stretched beside she


heeded not at all, and falling beside Turambar she wept, and


kissed his face, and put salve upon his hand, for such she had


brought in a little box when first they sallied forth, fearing that


many hurts would be gotten ere men wended home.


Yet Turambar woke not at her touch, nor stirred, and she cried


aloud, thinking him now surely dead: "0 Turambar, my lord,


awake, for the serpent of wrath is dead and I alone am near!" But


lo! at those words the drake stirred his last, and turning his baleful


eyes upon her ere he shut them for ever said: "0 thou Nienori


daughter of Mavwin, I give thee joy that thou hast found thy


brother at the last, for the search hath been weary -- and now is he


become a very mighty fellow and a stabber of his foes unseen"; but


Nienori sat as one stunned, and with that Glorund died, and with


his death the veil of his spells fell from her, and all her memory


grew crystal clear, neither did she forget any of those things that had


 befallen her since first she fell beneath the magic of the worm; so


that her form shook with horror and anguish. Then did she start to


her feet, standing wanly in the moon, and looking upon Turambar


with wide eyes thus spake she aloud: "Then is thy doom spent at


last. Well art thou dead, 0 most unhappy," but distraught with


her woe suddenly she fled from that place and fared wildly away as


one mad whithersoever her feet led her.


But Tamar whose heart was numbed with grief and ruth followed


as he might, recking little of Turambar, for wrath at the fate of


Nienori filled all his heart. Now the stream and the deep chasm lay


across her path, but it so chanced that she turned aside ere she


came to its banks and followed its winding course through stony


and thorny places until she came once again to the glade at the


head of the great roaring fall, and it was empty as the first grey


light of a new day filtered through the trees.


There did she stay her feet and standing spake as to herself: "0


waters of the forest whither do ye go? Wilt thou take Nienori,


Nienori daughter of Urin, child of woe? 0 ye white foams, would


that ye might lave me clean -- but deep, deep must be the waters


that would wash my memory of this nameless curse. 0 bear me


hence, far far away, where are the waters of the unremembering


sea. 0 waters of the forest whither do ye go?" Then ceasing


suddenly she cast herself over the fall's brink, and perished where


it foams about the rocks below; but at that moment the sun arose





above the trees and light fell upon the waters, and the waters


roared unheeding above the death of Nienori.


Now all this did Tamar behold, and to him the light of the new


sun seemed dark, but turning from those places he went to the


hill-top and there was already gathered a great concourse of folk,


and among them were those three that had last deserted Turambar,


and they made a story for the ears of the folk. But Tamar coming


stood suddenly before them, and his face was terrible to see, so


that a whisper ran among them: "He is dead"; but others said:


"What then has befallen the little Niniel?" -- but Tamar cried


aloud: "Hear, 0 my people, and say if there is a fate like unto the


one I tell unto thee, or a woe so heavy. Dead is the drake, but at his


side lieth also Turambar dead, even he who was first called Turin


son of Urin,> and that is well; aye very well," and folk murmured,


wondering at his speech, and some said that he was mad. But 


Tamar said: "For know, 0 people, that Niniel the fair beloved of


you all and whom I love dearer than my heart is dead, and the


waters roar above her, for she has leapt o'er the falls of Silver Bowl


desiring never more to see the light of day. Now endeth all that evil


spell, now is the doom of the folk of Urin terribly fulfilled, for she


that ye called Niniel was even Nienori daughter of Urin, and this


did she know or ever she died, and this did she tell to the wild


woods, and their echo came to me."


At those words did the hearts of all who stood there break for


sorrow and for dread, yet did none dare to go to the place of the


anguish of that fair lady, for a sad spirit abideth there yet and none


sets foot upon its sward; but a great remorse pierced the hearts of


those three cravens, and creeping from the throng they went to


seek their lord's body, and behold they found him stirring and


alive, for when the dragon died the swoon had left him, and he


slept a deep sleep of weariness, yet now was he awakening and was


in pain. Even as those three stood by he spake and said "Niniel",


and at that word they hid their faces for ruth and horror, and could


not look upon his face, but afterward they roused him, and behold


he was very fain of his victory; yet suddenly marking his hand he


said: "Lo! one has been that has tended my hurt with skill -- who


think ye that it was?" -- but they answered him not, for they


guessed. Now therefore was Turambar borne weary and hurt back


among his folk, and one sped before and cried that their lord lived,


but men knew not if they were glad; and as he came among them


many turned aside their faces to hide their hearts' perplexity and


their tears, and none durst speak.





But Turambar said to those that stood nigh: "Where is Niniel,


ply Niniel -- for I had thought to find her here in gladness -- yet if


she has returned rather to my halls then is it well ', but those that


heard could no longer restrain their weeping, and Turambar rose


crying: What new ill is this -- speak, speak, my people, and


torment me not." But one said: "Niniel alas is dead my lord," but


Turambar cried out bitterly against the Valar and his fate of woe,


and at last another said: <Aye, she is dead, for she fell even into the


depths of Silver Bowl, "but Tamar who stood by muttered: <Nay,


she cast herself thither." Then Turambar catching those words


seized him by the arm and cried: "Speak, thou club-foot, speak,


say what meaneth thy foul speech, or thou shalt lose thy tongue,"


for his misery was terrible to see.


Now was Tamar's heart in a great turmoil of pain for the dread


things that he had seen and heard, and the long hopelessness of his


love for Niniel, so did rage against Turambar kindle suddenly


within him, and shaking off his touch he said: "A maid thou


foundest in the wild woods and gave her a jesting name, that thou


and all the folk called her Niniel, the little one of tears. Ill was that


jest, Turambar, for lo! she has cast herself away blind with horror


and with woe, desiring never to see thee again, and the name she


named herself in death was Nienori daughter of Urin, child of


woe, nor may all the waters of the Silver Bowl as they drop into the


deep shed the full tale of tears o'er Niniel."


Then Turambar with a roar took his throat and shook him,


saying: "Thou liest -- thou evil son of Bethos" -- but Tamar gasped


"Nay, accursed one; so spake Glorund the drake, and Niniel


hearing knew that it was true." But Turambar said: "Then go


commune in Mandos with thy Glorund," and he slew him before


the face of the people, and fared after as one mad, shouting "He


lieth, he lieth"; and yet being free now of blindness and of dreams


in his deep heart he knew that it was true and that now his weird


was spent at last.


So did he leave the folk behind and drive heedless through the


woods calling ever the name of Niniel, till the woods rang most


dismally with that word, and his going led him by circuitous ways


ever to the glade of Silver Bowl, and none had dared to follow him.


There shone the sun of afternoon, and lo, were all the trees grown


sere although it was high summer still, and noise there was as of


dying autumn in the leaves. Withered were all the flowers and the


grass, and the voice of the falling water was sadder than tears for


the death of the white maiden Nienori daughter of Urin that there








had been. There stood Turambar spent at last, and there he drew


his sword, and said: "Hail, Gurtholfin, wand of death, for thou art


all men's bane and all men's lives fain wouldst thou drink, knowing


no lord or faith save the hand that wields thee if it be strong. Thee


only have I now -- slay me therefore and be swift, for life is a curse,


and all my days are creeping foul, and all my deeds are vile, and all


I love is dead." And Gurtholfin said: "That will I gladly do, for


blood is blood, and perchance thine is not less sweet than many' a


one's that thou hast given me ere now"; and Turambar cast


himself then upon the point of Gurtholfin, and the dark blade took


his life.


But later some came timidly and bore him away and laid him in


a place nigh, and raised a great mound over him, and thereafter


some drew a great rock there with a smooth face, and on it were cut


strange signs such as Turambar himself had taught them in dead


days, bringing that knowledge from the caves of the Rodothlim,


and that writing said:


Turambar slayer of Glorund the Worm


who also was Turin Mormakil


Son of Urin of the Woods


and beneath that was carven the word "Niniel" (or child of tears);


but she was not there, nor where the waters have laid her fair form


doth any man know.'


Now thereupon did Eltas cease his speaking, and suddenly all


who hearkened wept; but he said thereto: 'Yea, 'tis an unhappy


tale, for sorrow hath fared ever abroad among Men and doth so


still, but in the wild days were very terrible things done and


suffered; and yet hath Melko seldom devised more cruelty, nor do


I know a tale that is more pitiful.'


Then after a time some questioned him concerning Mavwin and


Urin and after happenings, and he said: 'Now of Mavwin hath no


sure record been preserved like unto the tale of Turin Turambar


her son, and many things are said and some of them differ from


one another; but this much can I tell to ye, that after those dread


deeds the woodfolk had no heart for their abiding place and


departed to other valleys of the wood, and yet did a few linger


sadly nigh their old homes; and once came an aged dame wandering


through the woods, and she chanced upon that carven rock. To


her did one of those woodmen read the meaning of the signs, and


he told her all the tale as he remembered it -- but she was silent, and











nor spoke nor moved. Then said he: "Thy heart is heavy, for it is a


tale to move all men to tears." But she said: "Ay, sad indeed is my


heart, for I am Mavwin, mother of those twain," and that man


perceived that not yet had that long tale of sorrow reached its


ending -- but Mavwin arose and went out into the woods crying in


anguish, and for long time she haunted that spot so that the


woodman and his folk fled and came never back, and none may


say whether indeed it was Mavwin that came there or her dark


shade that sought not back to Mandos by reason of her great


unhappiness."


Yet it is said that all these dread happenings Urin saw by the


magic of Melko, and was continually tempted by that Ainu to yield


to his will, and he would not; but when the doom of his folk was


utterly fulfilled then did Melko think to use Urin in another and


more subtle way, and he released him from that high and bitter


place where he had sat through many years in torment of heart.


But Melko went to him and spoke evilly of the Elves to him, and


especially did he accuse Tinwelint" of weakness and cravenhood.


"Never can I comprehend," said he, "wherefore it is that there be


still great and wise Men who trust to the friendship of the Elves,


and becoming fools enough to resist my might do treble their folly


in looking for sure help therein from Gnomes or Fairies. Lo, 0


Urin, but for the faint heart of Tinwelint of the woodland how


could my designs have come to pass, and perchance now had


Nienori lived and Mavwin thy wife had wept not, being glad for


the recovery of her son. Go therefore, 0 foolish one, and return to


eat the bitter bread of almsgiving in the halls of thy fair friends."


Then did Urin bowed with years and sorrow depart unmolested


from Melko's realms and came unto the better lands, but ever as he


went he pondered Melko's saying and the cunning web of woven


truth and falsity clouded his heart's eye, and he was very bitter in


spirit. Now therefore he gathered to him a band of wild Elves,"


and they were waxen a fierce and lawless folk that dwelt not with


their kin, who thrust them into the hills to live or die as they


might. On a time therefore Urin led them to the caves of the


Rodothlim, and behold the Orcs had fled therefrom at the death of


Glorund, and one only dwelt there still, an old misshapen dwarf


who sat ever on the pile of gold singing black songs of enchantment


to himself. But none had come nigh till then to despoil him, for the


terror of the drake lived longer than he, and none had ventured


thither again for dread of the very spirit of Glorund the worm."


Now therefore when those Elves approached the dwarf stood








before the doors of the cave that was once the abode of Galweg,


and he cried: "What will ye with me, 0 outlaws of the hills?" But


Urin answered: "We come to take what is not thine." Then said


that dwarf, and his name was Mim: "0 Urin, little did I think to


see thee, a lord of Men, with such a rabble. Hearken now to the


words of Mim the fatherless, and depart, touching not this gold no


more than were it venomous fires. For has not Glorund lain long


years upon it, and the evil of the drakes of Melko is on it, and no


good can it bring to Man or Elf, but I, only I, can ward it, Mim the


dwarf, and by many a dark spell have I bound it to myself." Then


Urin wavered, but his men were wroth at that, so that he bid them


seize it all, and Mim stood by and watched, and he broke forth into


terrible and evil curses. Thereat did Urin smite him, saying: "We


came but to take what was not thine -- now for thy evil words we


will take what is thine as well, even thy life."


But Mim dying said unto Urin: "Now Elves and Men shall rue


this deed, and because of the death of Mim the dwarf shall death


follow this gold so long as it remain on Earth, and a like fate shall


every part and portion share with the whole." And Urin shuddered,


but his folk laughed.


Now Urin caused his followers to bear this gold to the halls of


Tinwelint, and they murmured at that, but he said: "Are ye


become as the drakes of Melko, that would lie and wallow in gold


and seek no other joy? A sweeter life shall ye have in the court of


that king of greed, an ye bear such treasury to him, than all the


gold of Valinor can get you in the empty woods."


Now his heart was bitter against Tinwelint, and he desired to


have a vengeance on him, as may be seen. So great was that hoard


that great though Urin's company might be scarce could they bear


it to the caves of Tinwelint the king, and some 'tis said was left


behind and some was lost upon the way, and evil has followed its


finders for ever.


Yet in the end that laden host came to the bridge before the


doors, and being asked by the guards Urin said: "Say to the king


that Urin the Steadfast is come bearing gifts," and this was done.


Then Urin let bear all that magnificence before the king, but it was


hidden in sacks or shut in boxes of rough wood; and Tinwelint


greeted Urin with joy and with amaze and bid him thrice welcome,


and he and all his court arose in honour of that lord of Men; but


Urin's heart was blind by reason of his tormented years and of the


lies of Melko, and he said: "Nay, 0 King, I do not desire to hear


such words -- but say only, where is Mavwin my wife, and knowest





thou what death did Nienori my daughter die?> And Tinwelint


said that he knew not.


Then did Urin fiercely tell that tale, and the king and all his folk


 about him hid their faces for great ruth, but Urin said: "Nay," had


 you such a heart as have the least of Men, never would they have


been lost; but lo, I bring you now a payment in full for the troubles


of your puny band that went against Glorund the drake, and


 deserting gave up my dear ones to his power. Gaze, 0 Tinwelint,


sweetly on my gifts, for methinks the lustre of gold is all your heart


contains."


Then did men cast down that treasury at the king's feet, un-


covering it so that all that court were dazzled and amazed -- but


 Urin's men understood now what was forward and were little


pleased. "Behold the hoard of Glorund," said Urin, "bought by


the death of Nienori with the blood of Turin slayer of the worm.


Take it, 0 craven king, and be glad that some Men be brave to win


: thee riches."


Then were Urin's words more than Tinwelint could endure,


and he said: "What meanest thou, child of Men, and wherefore


upbraidest thou me?" Long did I foster thy son and forgave him


the evil of his deeds, and afterward thy wife I succoured, giving


way against my counsel to her wild desires. Melko it is that hates


 thee and not I. Yet what is it to me -- and wherefore dost thou of


 the uncouth race of Men endure to upbraid a king of the Eldalie?


 Lo! in Palisor my life began years uncounted before the first of


Men awoke. Get thee gone, 0 Urin, for Melko hath bewitched


thee, and take thy riches with thee" -- but he forebore to slay or to


 bind Urin in spells, remembering his ancient valiance in the


Eldar's cause.


Then Urin departed, but would not touch the gold, and stricken


in years he reached Hisilome and died among Men, but his words


living after him bred estrangement between Elves and Men. Yet it


 is said that when he was dead his shade fared into the woods


seeking Mavwin, and long those twain haunted the woods about


the fall of Silver Bowl bewailing their children. But the Elves of


Kor have told, and they know, that at last Urin and Mavwin fared


to Mandos, and Nienori was not there nor Turin their son.


Turambar indeed had followed Nienori along the black pathways


to the doors of Fui, but Fui would not open to them, neither


would Vefantur. Yet now the prayers of Urin and Mavwin came


even to Manwe, and the Gods had mercy on their unhappy fate, so


that those twain Turin and Nienori entered into Fos'Almir, the





bath of flame, even as Urwendi and her maidens had done in ages


past before the first rising of the Sun, and so were all their sorrows


and stains washed away, and they dwelt as shining Valar among


the blessed ones, and now the love of that brother and sister is


very fair; but Turambar indeed shall stand beside Fionwe in the


Great Wrack, and Melko and his drakes shall curse the sword of


Mormakil.'


And so saying Eltas made an end, and none asked further.


NOTES.


1. The passage was rejected before the change of Tintoglin to


Tinwelint; see p. 69.


Above the name Egnor is written 'Damrod the Gnome'; see Com-


mentary, pp. 139 -- 40.


3. Here and immediately below the name as first written was


Tinthellon; this rider must belong to the same time as the note on


the MS directing that Tintoglin be changed to Ellon or Tinthellon


(p. 69). See note 32.


Associated with this replacement is a note on the manuscript read-


ing: 'If Beren be a Gnome (as now in the story of Tinuviel) the


references to Beren must be altered.' In the rejected passage Egnor:


father of Beren 'was akin to Mavwin', i.e. Egnor was a Man. See


notes 5 and 6, and the Commentary, p. 139.


'Turin son of Urin'. original reading 'Beren Ermabwed'. See notes 4


and 6.


6. Original reading 'and when also the king heard of the kinship:


between Mavwin and Beren'. See notes 4 and 5.


Linwe (Tinto) was the king's original 'Elvish' name, and belongs to


the same 'layer' of names as Tintoglin (see I. I 15, 13 I). Its retention'


here (not changed to Tinwe) is clearly a simple oversight. See notes


19 and 20.


8. Original reading 'seeing that he was a Man of great size'.


9. With this passage cf. that in the Tale of Tinuviel p. 11, which is '


closely similar. That the passage in Turambar is the earlier (to be '


presumed in any case) is shown by the fact that that in Tinuviel is


only relevant if Beren is a Gnome, not a Man (see note 4).


10. 'dreams came to them': original reading 'dreams the Valar sent to


them'.


11. 'and his name was Glorund' was added later, as were the subsequent -


occurrences of the name on pp. 86, 94, 98; but from the first on .


p. 103 onwards Glorund appears in the manuscript as first written.


12. 'with the aid of Flinding whose wounds were not great': original


reading 'with the aid of a lightly wounded man'. All the subsequent


references to Flinding in this passage were added.








  13.


14.


15.


16.


Original reading 'Turin's heart was bitter, and so it was that he and


that other alone returned from that battle'. -- In the phrase 'reproach-


ing Turin that he had ever withstood his wise counsels"ever' means


'always': Turin had always resisted Orodreth's counsels.


Original reading 'although all folk at that time held such a deed


grievous and cowardly'.


Original reading 'and to look upon Nienori again'. This was emended


to 'and to look upon Nienori whom he had never seen'. The words


'since his first days' were added still later.


The following passage was struck out, apparently at the time of


writing:


"Indeed," said they, "it is the report of men of travel and rangers


of the hills that for many and many moons have even the farthest


marches been free of them and unwonted safe, and so have many


men fared out of Hisilome to the Lands Beyond." And this was


the truth that during the life of Turambar as an exile from the


court of Tintoglin or hidden amongst the Rothwarin Melko had


troubled Hisilome little and the paths thereto.


 17.


 18.


 19.


 20.


12.


23.


25.


(Rothwarin was the original form throughout, replaced later by


Rodothlim.) See p. 92, where the situation described in the rejected


passage is referred to the earlier time (before the destruction of the


Rodothlim) when Mavwin and Nienori left Hisilorne.


Original reading 'twice seven'. When Turin fled from the land of


Tinwelint it was exactly 12 years since he had left his mother's house


(p. 75), and Nienori was born before that, but just how long before


is not stated.


After 'a great and terrible project afoot' the original reading was 'the


story of which entereth not into this tale'. I do not know whether this


means that when my father first wrote here of Melko's 'project' he


did not have the destruction of the Rodothlim in mind.


'the king': original reading 'Linwe'. See note 7.


Linwe': an oversight. See note 7.


'that high place': original reading 'a hill'.


This sentence, 'And even so was Turin's boast...', was added in


pencil later. The reference is to Turin's naming himself Turambar --


'from this hour shall none name me Turin if I live', p. 86.


This sentence, from 'for his lineage...' to approximately this point,


is very lightly struck through. On the opposite page of the MS is


hastily scribbled: 'Make Turambar never tell new folk of his lineage


(will bury the past) -- this avoids chance (as cert.) of Niniel hearing


his lineage from any.' See Commentary, p. 13 I.


Against this sentence there is a pencilled question-mark in the


margin. See note 23 and the Commentary, p. 13 I.


'And Niniel conceived' was added in pencil later. See Commentary,


P 135.











26.


27.


28.


29.


'and the captain of these was Mim the dwarf' added afterwards in


pencil. See Commentary p. 137.


The word tract may be read as track, and the word hurt (but with


less probability) as burnt.


As it stands this sentence can hardly mean other than that the people


thought that the men were fighting among themselves; but why


should they think such a thing? More likely, my father inadvertently


missed out the end of the sentence: 'betwixt the seven, Turambar


and his comrades, and the dragon.'


Turambar refers to Glorund's words to him before the caves of


the Rodothlim: '0 Turin Mormakil, who wast once named brave'


(p.86)


30.


31.


32.


33.


34.


35.


36.


These words, from 'even he who...', were added later in pencil.


Urin may also be read as Hurin.


From this point to the end of Eltas' tale the original text was struck .


through, and is followed in the manuscript book by two brief


narrative.outlines, these being rejected also. The text given here


(from 'Yet it is said...') is found on slips placed in the book. For the


rejected material see the Commentary, pp. 135 -- 7.


Throughout the final portion of the text (that written on slips, see


note 31) the king's name was first written Tinthellon, not Tintoglin


(see note 3).


'Elves': original reading 'men'. The same change was made below


('Now therefore when those Elves approached'), and a little later


'men' was removed in two places ('his folk laughed', 'Urin caused his


followers to bear the gold', p. 114 ); but several occurrences of 'men'


were retained, possibly through oversight, though 'men' is used


of Elves very frequently in the Tale of Turambar (e.g. 'Beleg and


Flinding both stout men', p. So).


This sentence, from 'But none had come nigh...', was added later


in pencil.


This sentence, from 'Then did Urin fiercely...', was added later,


replacing 'Then said Urin: "Yet had you such a heart..."'


This sentence, from "What meanest thou...", replaces the original


reading "Begone, and take thy filth with thee."


Changes made to names in


The Tale of Turambar.


Fuithlug < Fothlug < Fothlog


Nienori At the first occurrence (p. 71) my father originally wrote


Nyenore (Nienor). Afterwards he struck out Nyenore, removed


the brackets round Nienor, and added -i, giving Nienori. At


subsequent occurrences the name was written both Nienor and





The opening passage agrees in almost all essentials with the ultimate


form of the story. Thus there go back to the beginning of the 'tradition'


(or at least to its earliest extant form) the departure of Hurin to the Battle


of Unnumbered Tears at the summons of the Noldor, while his wife


(Mavwin = Morwen) and young son Turin remained behind; the great


stand of Hurin's men, and Hurin's capture by Morgoth; the reason for


Hurin's torture (Morgoth's wish to learn the whereabouts of Turgon)


and the mode of it, and Morgoth's curse; the birth of Nienor shortly after


the great battle.


That Men were shut in Hisilome (or Hithlum, the Gnomish form,


which here first appears, equated with Dor Lomin, p. 71 ) after the Battle


of Unnumbered Tears is stated in The Coming of the Elves (I. 118) and


in the last of the outlines for Gilfanon's Tale (I.241); later on this


was transformed into the confinement of the treacherous Easterling Men


in Hithlum (The Silmarillion p. 195), and their ill-treatment of the


survivors of the House of Hador became an essential element in the story


of Turin's childhood. But in the Tale of Turambar the idea is already


present that 'the strange men who dwelt nigh knew not the dignity of the


Lady Mavwin'. It is not in fact clear where Urin dwelt: it is said here that


after the battle 'Mavwin got her in tears into the land of Hithlum or Dor


Lomin where all Men must now dwell', which can only mean that she


went there, on account of Melko's command, from wherever she had


dwelt with Urin before; on the other hand, a little later in the tale


(p. 73), and in apparent contradiction to this, Mavwin would not accept


the invitation of Tinwelint to come to Artanor partly because (it is


suggested) 'she clung to that dwelling that Urin had set her in ere he


ment to the great war'.


In the later story Morwen resolved to send Turin away from fear that


he would be enslaved by the Easterlings (Narn p. 70), whereas here all


that is said is that Mavwin 'knew not in her distress how to foster both


him and his sister' (which presumably reflects her poverty). This in turn


reflects a further difference, namely that here Nienori was born before


Turin's departure (but see p. 131); in the later legend he and his,


companions left Dor-lomin in the autumn of the Year of Lamentation


and Nienor was born early in the following year -- thus he had never seen


her, even as an infant.


An important underlying difference is the absence in the tale of the


motive that Hurin had himself visited Gondolin, a fact known to Morgoth


and the reason for his being taken alive (The Silmarillion pp. 158 -- 9,


196-7); this element in the story arose much later, when the founding of


Gondolin was set far back and long before the Battle of Unnumbered


Tears.


(ii) Turin in Artanor (pp. 72 -- 6).


From the original story of Turin's journey the two old men who accom-





panied him, one of whom returned to Mavwin while the older remained


with Turin, were never lost; and the cry of Turin as they set out


reappears in the Narn (p. 73): 'Morwen, Morwen, when shall I see you


again?'


Beleg was present from the beginning, as was the meaning of his name:


'he was called Beleg for he was of great stature' (see I. 254, entry Haloisi


velike, and the Appendix to The Silmarillion, entry beleg); and he


plays the same role in the old story, rescuing the travellers starving in the


forest and taking them to the king.


In the later versions there is no trace of the remarkable message sent by


Tinwelint to Mavwin, and indeed his curiously candid explanation, that


he held aloof from the Battle of Unnumbered Tears because in his


wisdom he foresaw that Artanor could become a refuge if disaster befell,


is hardly in keeping with his character as afterwards conceived. There


were of course quite other reasons for his conduct (The Silmarillion


p. 189). On the other hand, Mavwin's motives for not herself leaving


Hithlum remained unchanged (see the passage in the Narn, p. 70, where


the word 'almsguest' is an echo of the old tale); but the statement is


puzzling that Mavwin might, when Nienori was grown, have put aside


her pride and passed over the mountains, had they not become impassable


-- clearly suggesting that she never left Hithlum. Perhaps the meaning is,


however, that she might have made the journey earlier (while Turin was


still in Artanor) than she in fact did (when for a time the ways became


easier, but Turin had gone).


The character of Turin as a boy reappears in every stroke of the


description in the Narn (p. 77):


It seemed that fortune was unfriendly to him, so that often what he


designed went awry, and what he desired he did not gain; neither did


he win friendship easily, for he was not merry, and laughed seldom,


and a shadow lay on his youth.


(It is a notable point that is added in the tale: 'at no time did he give


much heed to words that were spoken to him'). And the ending of all


word between Turin and his mother comes about in the same way --


increased guard on the mountains (Narn p. 78).


While the story of Turin and Saeros as told in The Silmarillion, and in


far more detail in the Narn, goes back in essentials to the Tale of


Turambar, there are some notable differences -- the chief being that as


the story was first told Turin's tormentor was slain outright by the


thrown drinking-cup. The later complications of Saeros' treacherous


assault on Turin the following day and his chase to the death, of the trial


of Turin in his absence for this deed and of the testimony of Nellas (this


last only in the Narn) are entirely absent, necessarily; nor does Mablung


appear -- indeed it seems clear that Mablung first emerged at the end of


the Tale of Tinuviel (see p. 59). Some details survived (as the comb





which Orgof/Saeros offered tauntingly to Turin, Narn p. 80), while


others were changed or neglected (as that it was the anniversary of


Turin's departure from his home -- though the figure of twelve years


agrees with the later story, and that the king was present in the hall;


contrast Narn p. 79). But the taunt that roused Turin to murderous rage


remained essentially the same, in that it touched on his mother; and the


story was never changed that Turin came into the hall tousled and


roughly clad, and that he was mocked for this by his enemy.


Orgof is not greatly distinct from Saeros, if less developed. He was in


the king's favour, proud, and jealous of Turin; in the later story he was a


Nandorin Elf while here he is an Ilkorin with some Gnomish blood (for


Gnomes in Artanor see p. 65), but doubtless some peculiarity in his


origin was part of the 'tradition'. In the old story he is explicitly a fop and


a fool, and he is not given the motives of hatred for Turin that are


ascribed to him in the Narn (p. 77).


Though far simpler in narrative, the essential element of Turin's


ignorance of his pardon was present from the outset. The tale provides


an explanation, not found later, of why Turin did not, on leaving


Artanor, return to Hithlum; cf. the Narn p. 87: 'to Dor-lomin he did not


dare, for it was closely beset, and one man alone could not hope at that


time, as he thought, to come through the passes of the Mountains of


Shadow.'


Turin's prowess against the Orcs during his sojourn in Artanor is


given a more central or indeed unique importance in the tale ('he held


the wrath of Melko from them for many years') especially as Beleg, his


companion-in-arms in the later versions, is not here mentioned (and in


this passage the power of the queen to withstand invasion of the kingdom


seems again (see p. 63) less than it afterwards became).


(iii) Turin and Beleg (pp. 76-81).


That part of the Turin saga following on his days in Artanor/Doriath


underwent a large development later ('Turin among the Outlaws'), and


indeed my father never brought this part of the story to finality. In the


oldest version there is a much more rapid development of the plot: Beleg


joins Turin's band, and the destruction of the band and capture of Turin


by the Orcs follows (in terms of the narrative) almost immediately.


There is no mention of 'outlaws' but only of 'wild spirits', no long search


for Turin by Beleg, no capture and maltreatment of Beleg by the band,


and no betrayal of the camp by a traitor (the part ultimately taken by


Mim the Dwarf). Beleg indeed (as already noticed) is not said to have


been Turin's companion in the earlier time, before the slaying of Orgof,


and they only take up together after Turin's self-imposed exile.


Beleg is called a Noldo (p. 78), and if this single reference is to be given


full weight (and there seems no reason not to: it is explicit in the Tale of


Tinuviel that there were Noldoli in Artanor, and Orgof had Gnomish





blood) then it is to be observed that Beleg as originally conceived was an


Elf of Kor. He is not here marked out as a great bowman (neither his


name Cuthalion 'Strongbow' nor his great bow Belthronding appear); he


is described at his first appearance (p. 73) as 'a wood-ranger, a huntsman


of the secret Elves', but not as the chief of the marchwardens of the


realm.


But from the capture of Turin to the death of Beleg the old tale was


scarcely changed afterwards in any really important respect, though


altered in many details: such as Beleg's shooting of the wolf-sentinels


silently in the darkness in the later story, and the flash of lightning that


illuminated Beleg's face -- but the blue-shining lamps of the Noldor


appear again in much later writings: one was borne by the Elves Gelmir


and Arminas who guided Tuor through the Gate of the Noldor on his


journey to the sea (see Unfinished Tales pp. 22, 51 note z). In my


father's painting (probably dating from 1927 or 1928) of the meeting


between Beleg and Flinding in Taur-nu-Fuin (reproduced in Pictures


by J. R.R. Tolkien, no. 37) Flinding's lamp is seen beside him. The plot


of the old story is very precisely contrived in such details as the reason for


the carrying of Turin, still sleeping, out of the Orc-camp, and for Beleg's


using his sword, rather than a knife, to cut Turin's bonds; perhaps also in


the crushing of Beleg by Turin so that he was winded and could not speak


his name before Turin gave him his death-blow.


The story of Turin's madness after the slaying of Beleg, the guidance


of Gwindor, and the release of Turin's tears at Eithel Ivrin, is here in


embryo. Of the peculiar nature of Beleg's sword there is no suggestion.


(iv) Turin among the Rodothlim; Turin and Glorund (pp. 81 -- 8).


In this passage is found (so far as written record goes, for it is


to be remembered that a wholly erased text underlies the manuscript)


the origin of Nargothrond, as yet unnamed. Among many remarkable


features the chief is perhaps that Orodreth was there before Felagund,


Lord of Caves, with whom in the later legend Nargothrond was identified,


as its founder and deviser. (In The Silmarillion Orodreth was one of


Finrod Felagund's brothers (the sons of Finarfin), to whom Felagund


gave the command of Minas Tirith on Tol Sirion after the making of


Nargothrond (p. 120), and Orodreth became King of Nargothrond after


Felagund's death.) In the tale this cave-dwelling of exiled Noldoli


is a simpler and rougher place, and (as is suggested) short-lived against


the overwhelming power of Melko; but, as so often, there were many


features that were never altered, even though in a crucial respect the


history of Nargothrond was to be greatly modified by contact with the


legend of Beren and Tinuviel. Thus the site was from the start 'above a


stream' (the later Narog) that 'ran down to feed the river Sirion', and as is


seen later (p. 96) the bank of the river on the side of the caves was higher


and the hills drew close: cf. The Silmarillion p. 114: 'the caves under the








High Faroth in its steep western shore'. The policy of secrecy and refusal


of open war pursued by the Elves of Nargothrond was always an essential


element (cf. The Silmarillion pp. 168, 170),> as was the overturning of


that policy by the confidence and masterfulness of Turin (though in the


tale there is no mention of the great bridge that he caused to be built).


Here, however, the fall of the redoubt is perhaps more emphatically


attributed to Turin, his coming there seen more simply as a curse, and


the disaster as more inevitably proceeding from his unwisdom: at least in


the fragments of this part of the Narn (pp. r 55 -- 7) Turin's case against


Gwindor, who argued for the continuation of secrecy, is seemingly not


without substance, despite the outcome. But the essential story is the


same: Turin's policy revealed Nargothrond to Morgoth, who came


against it with overwhelming strength and destroyed it.


In relation to the earliest version the roles of Flinding (Gwindor),


Failivrin (Finduilas), t and Orodreth were to undergo a remarkable set


of transferences. In the old tale Flinding had been of the Rodothlim


before his capture and imprisonment in Angband, just as afterwards


Gwindor came from Nargothrond (but with a great development in his


story, see The Silmarillion pp. 188, 191--2), and on his return was so


changed as to be scarcely recognisable (I pass over such enduring minor


features as the taking of Turin and Flinding/Gwindor prisoner on their


coming to the caves). The beautiful Failivrin is already present, and her


unrequited love for Turin, but the complication of her former relation


with Gwindor is quite absent, and she is not the daughter of Orodreth the


King but of one Galweg (who was to disappear utterly). Flinding is not


shown as opposed to Turin's policies; and in the final battle he aids Turin


in bearing Orodreth out of the fight. Orodreth dies (after being carried


back to the caves) reproaching Turin for what he has brought to pass -- as


does Gwindor dying in The Silmarillion (p. 213), with the added


bitterness of his relation with Finduilas. But Failivrin's father Galweg is


slain in the battle, as is Finduilas' father Orodreth in The Silmarillion.


Thus in the evolution of the legend Orodreth took over the role of


Galweg, while Gwindor took over in part the role of Orodreth.


As I have noticed earlier, there is no mention in the tale of any


peculiarity attaching to Beleg's sword, and though the Black Sword is


already present it was made for Turin on the orders of Orodreth, and its


blackness and its shining pale edges were of its first making (see The


Silmarillion pp. 209 -- 10). Its power of speech ('it is said that at times it


spake dark words to him') remained afterwards in its dreadful words to


Turin before his death (Narn p. 145) -- a motive that appears already


(* From the first of these passages it seems that when Beren came to Nargothrond the


'secret' policy was already pursued under Felagund; but (rom the second it seems that it


came into being from the potent rhetoric of Curufin after Beren went there.


f In The Silmarillion she is named Finduilas, and the name Faclivrin 'which is the


gleam o( the sun on the pools of Ivrin' was given to her by Gwindor (pp. 209 -- 10).)





in the tale, p. 112; and Turin's name derived from the sword (here


Mormagli, Mormakil, later Mormegil) was already devised. But


of Turin's disguising of his true name in Nargothrond there is no


suggestion: indeed it is explicitly stated that he said who he was.


Of Gelmir and Arminas and the warning they brought to Nargothrond


from Ulmo (Narn pp. 159 -- 62) the germ can perhaps be seen in the


'whispers in the stream at eve', which undoubtedly implies messages


from Ulmo (see p. 77).


The dragon Glorund is named in the 'lengthening spell' in the Tale of


Tinuviel (pp. 19, 46), but the actual name was only introduced in the


course of the writing of the Tale of Turambar (see note x x). There is no


suggestion that he had played any previous part in the history, or indeed


that he was the first of his kind, the Father of Dragons, with a long record


of evil already before the Sack of Nargothrond. Of great interest is the


passage in which the nature of the dragons of Melko is defined: their evil


wisdom, their love of lies and gold (which 'they may not use or enjoy'),


and the knowledge of tongues that Men say would come from eating a


dragon's heart (with evident reference to the legend in the Norse Edda of


Sigurd Fafnisbane, who was enabled to understand, to his own great


profit, the speech of birds when he ate the heart of the dragon Fafnir,


roasting it on a spit).


The story of the sack of Nargothrond is somewhat differently treated


in the old story, although the essentials were to remain of the driving


away of Failivrin/Finduilas among the captives and of the powerlessness


of Turin to aid her, being spellbound by the dragon. Minor differences


(such as the later arrival of Glorund on the scene: in The Silmarillion


Turin only came back to Nargothrond after Glaurung had entered the


caves and the sack was 'well nigh achieved') and minor agreements (such


as the denial of the plunder to the Orcs) may here be passed over; most


interesting is the account of Turin's words with the dragon. Here the


whole issue of Turin's escaping or not escaping his doom is introduced,


and it is significant that he takes the name Turambar at this juncture,


whereas in the later legend he takes it when he joins the Woodmen in


Brethil, and less is made of it. The old version is far less powerfully


and concisely expressed, and the dragon's words are less subtle and


ingeniously untrue. Here too the moral is very explicitly pointed, that


Turin should not have abandoned Failivrin 'in danger that he himself


could see' -- does this not suggest that, even under the dragon's spell as he


was, there was a weakness (a 'blindness', see p. 83) in Turin which the


dragon touched? As the story is told in The Silmarillion the moral would


seem uncalled for: Turin was opposed by an adversary too powerful for


his mind and will.


There is here a remarkable passage in which suicide is declared a sin,


depriving such a one of all hope 'that ever his spirit would be freed from


the dark glooms of Mandos or stray into the pleasant paths of Valinor'.


This seems to go with the perplexing passage in the tale of The Coming








of the Valar and the Building of Valinor concerning the fates of Men:


see p. 60.


Finally, it is strange that in the old story the gold and treasure was


carried out from the caves by the Orcs and remained there (it 'lay by the


caves above the stream'), and the dragon most uncharacteristically 'slept


before it' in the open. In The Silmarillion Glaurung 'gathered all the


hoard and riches of Felagund and heaped them, and lay upon them in the


innermost hall'.


(v) Turin's return to Hithlum (pp. 88 -- 91).


In this passage the case is much as in previous parts of the tale: the large


structure of the story was not greatly changed afterwards, but there are


many important differences nonetheless.


In the Tale of Turambar it is clear that the house of Mavwin was not


imagined as standing near to the hills or mountains that formed the


barrier between Hithlum and the Lands Beyond: Turin was told that


never did Orcs 'come hither deep into the land of Hisilome', in contrast to


the Narn (p. 68), where 'Hurin's house stood in the south-east of Dor-


lomin, and the mountains were near; Nen Lalaith indeed came down


from a spring under the shadow of Amon Darthir, over whose shoulder


there was a steep pass'. The removal of Mavwin from one house to


another in Hithlum, visited in turn by Turin as he sought for her, was


afterwards rejected, to the improvement of the story. Here Turin comes


back to his old home in the late summer, whereas in The Silmarillion the


fall of Nargothrond took place in the late autumn ('the leaves fe1l from


the trees in a great wind as they went, for the autumn was passing to a dire


winter,' p. 213) and Turin came to Dor-lomin in the Fell Winter (p. 215).


The names Brodda and Airin (later spelled Aerin) remained; but


Brodda is here the lord of the land, and Airin plays a more important part


in the scene in the hall, dealing justice with vigour and wisdom, than she


does later. It is not said here that she had been married by force, though


her life with Brodda is declared to have been very evil; but of course the


situation in the later narratives is far more clear-cut -- the Men of Hithlum


were 'Easterlings', 'Incomers' hostile to the Elves and the remnant of the


House of Hador, whereas in the early story no differentiation is made


among them, and indeed Brodda was 'a man whom Mavwin trusted'.


The motive of Brodda's ill-treatment of Mavwin is already present, but


only to the extent that he embezzled her goods after her departure; in the


Narnit seems from Aerin's words to Turin (p. 107) that the oppression


of Morwen by Brodda and others was the cause of her going at last to


Doriath. In the brief account in The Silmarillion (p. 215) it is not indeed


made explicit that Brodda in particular deserved Turin's hatred.


Turin's conduct in the hall is in the tale essentially simpler: the true


story has been told to him by a passer-by, he enters to exact vengeance on


Brodda for thieving Mavwin's goods, and he does so with dispatch. As











told in the Narn, where Turin's eyes are only finally opened to the


deception that has been practised upon him by the words of Aerin, who is


present in the hall, his rage is more passionate, crazed, and bitter, and


indeed more comprehensible: and the moral observation that Turin's


deed was 'violent and unlawful' is not made. The story of Airin's judge-


ment on these doings, made in order to save Turin, was afterwards


removed; and Turin's solitary departure was expanded, with the addition


also of the firing of Brodda's hall by Aerin (Narn p. 109).


Some details survived all the changes: in the Narn Turin still seizes


Brodda by the hair, and just as in the tale his rage suddenly expired after


the deed of violence ('his wrath was grown cold'), so in the Narn 'the fire


of his rage was as ashes'. It may be noticed here that while in the old story


Turin does not rename himself so often, his tendency to do so is already


present.


The story of how Turin came among the Woodmen and delivered


 them from Orcs is not found in the Tale of Turambar; nor is there any


mention of the Mound of Finduilas near the Crossings of Teiglin nor any


account of her fate.


(vi) The return of Gumlin to Hithlum and the departure of


Mavwin and Nienori to Artanor (pp. 91 -- 3).


In the later story the elder of Turin's guardians (Gumlin in the tale,


Grithnir in the Narn) plays no part after his bringing Turin to Doriath:


 it is only said that he stayed there till he died (Narn p. 74); and Morwen


had no tidings out of Doriath before leaving her home -- indeed she only


 learnt that Turin had left Thingol's realm when she got there (The


 Silmarillion p. 211; cf. Aerin's words in the Narn, p. 107: 'She looked to


 find her son there awaiting her.') This whole section of the tale does no


more than explain with what my father doubtless felt (since he afterwards


 rejected it almost in its entirety) to be unnecessary complication why


 Mavwin went to Tinwelint. I think it is clear, however, that the difference


between the versions here depends on the different views of Mavwin's


(Morwen's) condition in Hithlum. In the old story she is not suffering


hardship and oppression; she trusts Brodda to the extent of entrusting


not only her goods to him but even her daughter, and is said indeed to


have 'peace and honour among the men of those regions'; the chieftains


speak of the love they bear her. A motive for her departure is found in the


 coming of Gumlin and the news he brings of Turin's flight from the lands


of Tinwelint. In the later story, on the other hand, Brodda's character as


tyrant and oppressor is extended, and it is Morwen's very plight at his


hands that leads her to depart. (The news that came to Turin in Doriath


that 'Morwen's plight was eased' (Narn p. 77, cf. The Silmarillion


p. 199) is probably a survival from the old story; nothing is said in the


later narratives to explain how this came about, and ceased.) In either


 case her motive for leaving is coupled with the fact of the increased safety











of the lands; but whereas in the later story the reason for this was the


prowess of the Black Sword of Nargothrond, in the tale it was the 'great


and terrible project' of Melko that was afoot -- the assault on the caves of 


the Rodothlim (see note 18).


It is curious that in this passage Airin and Brodda are introduced as if


for the first time. It is perhaps significant that the part of the tale


extending from the dragon's words 'Hearken to me, 0 son of Urin...' on


p. 87 to '... fell to his knees before Tinwelint' on p. 92 was written


in a separate part of the manuscript book: possibly this replaced an


earlier text in which Brodda and Airin did not appear. But many such


questions arise from the earliest manuscripts, and few can now be


certainly unravelled.


(vii) Mavwin and Nienori in Artanor and their meeting


with Glorund (pp. 93 -- 9).


The next essential step in the development of the plot -- the learning by 


Mavwin/Morwen of Turin's sojourn in Nargothrond -- is more neatly and


naturally handled in The Silmarillron (p. 217) and the Narn (p. 112),


where news is brought to Thingol by fugitives from the sack, in contrast 


to the Tale of Turambar, where Mavwin and Nienori only learn of the:


destruction of the Elves of the Caves from a band of Noldoli while


themselves wandering aimlessly in the forest. It is odd that these Noldoli


did not name Turin by his name but only as the Mormakil: it seems that


they did not know who he was, but they knew enough of his history to 


make his identity plain to Mavwin. As noted above, Turin declared his


name and lineage to the Elves of the Caves. In the later narrative, on


the other hand, Turin did conceal it in Nargothrond, calling himself


Agarwaen, but all those who brought news of the fall to Doriath 'declared


that it was known to many in Nargothrond ere the end that the Mormegil


was none other than Turin son of Hurin of Dor-lomin'.


As often, unneeded complication in the early story was afterwards 


cleared away: thus the elaborate argumentation needed to get Tinwelint's 


warriors and Mavwin and Nienori on the road together is gone from The


Silmarillion and the Narn. In the tale the ladies and the Elvish warriors


all set off together with the full intention that the former shall watch


developments from a high place (afterwards Amon Ethir, the Hill of


Spies); in the later story Morwen simply rides off, and the party of Elves,


led by Mablung, follows after her, with Nienor among them in disguise.


Particularly notable is the passage in the tale in which Mavwin holds 


out the great gold-hoard of the Rodothlim as a bait to Tinwelint, and


Tinwelint unashamedly admits that (as a wild Elf of the woods) it is this,


not any hope of aiding Turin, that moves him to send out a party. The


majesty, power, and pride of Thingol rose with the development of the


conception of the Grey-elves of Beleriand; as I have said earlier (p. 63)


'In the beginning, Tinwelint's dwelling was not a subterranean city full





of marvels... but a rugged cave', and here he is seen planning a foray to


 augment his slender wealth in precious things -- a far cry from the


description of his vast treasury in the Narn (p. 76):


Now Thingol had in Menegroth deep armouries filled with great


wealth of weapons: metal wrought like fishes' mail and shining like


water in the moon; swords and axes, shields and helms, wrought by


Telchar himself or by his master Gamil Zirak the old, or by elven-


wrights more skilful still. For some things he had received in gift that


came out of Valinor and were wrought by Feanor in his mastery, than


whom no craftsman was greater in all the days of the world.


Great as are the differences from the later legend in the encounter with


 the dragon, the stinking vapours raised by his lying in the river as the


 cause of the miscarriage of the plan, the maddened flight of the horses,


and the enspelling of Nienor so that all memory of her past was lost, are


already present. Most striking perhaps of the many differences is the fact


that Mavwin was present at the conversation with Glorund; and of these


 speeches there is no echo in the Narn (pp. 118-19), save that Nienor's


naming of Turin as the object of their quest revealed her identity to the


dragon (this is explicit in the Narn, and may probably be surmised from


the tale). The peculiar tone of Glaurung in the later narrative, sneering


and curt, knowing and self-possessed, and unfathomably wicked, can be


detected already in the words of Glorund, but as he evolved he gained


immeasurably in dread by becoming more laconic.


The chief difference of structure lies in the total absence of the


'Mablung-element' from the tale, nor is there any foreshadowing of it.


There is no suggestion of an exploration of the sacked dwellings in the


dragon's absence (indeed he does not, as it appears, go any distance from


them); the purpose of the expedition from Artanor was expressly warlike


('a strong party against the Foaloke', 'they prepared them for battle'),


since Tinwelint had hopes of laying hands on the treasure, whereas


afterwards it became purely a scouting foray, for Thingol 'desired greatly


to know more of the fate of Nargothrond' (Narn p. 113).


A curious point is that though Mavwin and Nienori were to be stationed


on the tree-covered 'high place' that was afterward called the Hill of


Spies, and where they were in fact so stationed in The Silmarillion and


the Narn, it seems that in the old story they never got there, but were


ensnared by Glorund where he lay in, or not far from, the river. Thus the


'high place' had in the event almost no significance in the tale.


(viii) Turambar and Niniel (pp. 99- 102).


In the later legend Nienor was found by Mablung after her enspelling by


Glaurung, and with three companions he led her back towards the








borders of Doriath. The chase after Nienor by the band of Orcs (Nant


p. 120) is present in the tale, but it does not have its later narrative


function of leading to Nienor's Right and loss by Mablung and the other


Elves (who do not appear): rather it leads directly to her rescue by


Turambar, now dwelling among the Woodmen. In the Narn (p. 122) the


Woodmen of Brethil did indeed come past the spot where they found her


on their return from a foray against Orcs; but the circumstances of


her finding are altogether different, most.especially since there is in the


tale no mention of the Haudh-en-Elleth, the Mound of Finduilas.


An interesting detail concerns Nienor's response to Turambar's naming


her Niniel. In The Silmarillion and the Narn 'she shook her head, but


said: Niniel'; in the present text she said: 'Not Niniel, not Niniel.' One


has the impression that in the old story what impressed her darkened


mind was only the resemblance of Niniel to her own forgotten name,


Nienori (and of Turambar to Turin), whereas in the later she both


denied and in some way accepted the name Niniel.


An original element in the legend is the Woodmen's bringing of Niniel


to a place ('Silver Bowl') where there was a great waterfall (afterwards


Dimrost, the Rainy Stair, where the stream of Celebros 'fell towards


Teiglin'): and these falls were near to the dwellings of the Woodmen --


but the place where they found Niniel was much further off in the forest


(several days' journey) than were the Crossings of Teiglin from Dimrost.


When she came there she was filled with dread, a foreboding of what was 


to happen there afterwards, and this is the origin of her shuddering fit in


the later narratives, from which the place was renamed Nen Girith, the


Shuddering Water (see Narn p. 149, note 24).


The utter darkness imposed on Niniel's mind by the dragon's spell is


less emphasized in the tale, and there is no suggestion that she needed to


relearn her very language; but it is interesting to observe the recurrence


in a changed context of the simile of 'one that seeks for something


mislaid'. in the Narn (p. 123) Niniel is said to have taken great delight in


the relearning of words, 'as one that finds again treasures great and small


that were mislaid'.


The lame man, here called Tamar, and his vain love of Niniel already


appear; unlike his later counterpart Brandir he was not the chief of the


Woodmen, but he was the son of the chief. He was also Half-elven! Most


extraordinary is the statement that the wife of Bethos the chieftain and


mother of Tamar was an Elf, a woman of the Noldoli: this is mentioned


in passing, as if the great signincance and rarity of the ur '.on of Elf and


Mortal had not yet emerged -- but in a Name-list associated with the tale


of The Fall of Gondolin Earendel is said to be 'the only being that is half


of the kindred of the Eldalie and half of Men' (p. 215).*


(* In a later rewriting of a passage in that tale (p. 164 and note 22) it is said of Tuor and


Idril of Gondolin: 'Thus was first wed a child of Men with a daughter of Elfinesse, nor was


Tuor the last.')











The initial reluctance of Niniel to receive Turambar's suit is given no


explanation in the tale: the implication must be that some instinct, some


subconscious appreciation of the truth, held her back. In The Silmarillion


(p. 220)


for that time she delayed in spite of her love. For Brandir foreboded he


knew not what, and sought to restrain her, rather for her sake than his


own or rivalry with Turambar; and he revealed to her that Turambar


was Turin son of Hurin, and though she knew not the name a shadow


fell upon her mind.


In the final version as in the oldest, the Woodmen knew who Turambar


was. My father's scribbled directions for the alteration of the story cited


in note 23 ('Make Turambar never tell new folk of his lineage...') are


puzzling: for since Niniel had lost all memory of her past she would not


know the names Turin son of Hurin even if it were told to her that


Turambar was he. It is however possible that when my father wrote this


he imagined Niniel's lost knowledge of herself and her family as being


nearer the surface of her mind, and capable of being brought back by


hearing the names -- in contrast to the later story where she did not


consciously recognise the name of Turin even when Brandir told it to


her. Clearly the question-mark against the reference in the text of the


tale to Turambar's speaking to Niniel 'of his father and mother and


the sister he had not seen' and Niniel's distress at his words (see


note 24) depends on the same train of thought. The statement here that


Turambar had never seen his sister is at variance with what is said earlier


in the tale, that he did not leave Hithlum until after Nienori's birth


(p. 71); but my father was uncertain on this point, as is clearly seen from


the succession of readings, changed back and forth between the two


ideas, given in note 15.


(ix) The slaying of Clorund (pp. 103 -- 8).


In this section I follow the narrative of the tale as far as Turin's


swoon when the dying dragon opened his eyes and looked at him. Here


the later story runs very close to the old, but there are many interesting


differences.


In the tale Glorund is said to have had bands of both Orcs and Noldoli


subject to him, but only the Orcs remained afterwards; cf. the Narn


p. 125:


Now the power and malice of Glaurung grew apace, and he waxed fat


[cf. 'the Foaloke waxed fat'], and he gathered Orcs to him, and ruled as


a dragon-King, and all the realm of Nargothrond that had been was


laid under him.














The mention in the tale that Tinwelint's people were 'grievously


harried' by Glorund's bands suggests once again that the magic of the


Queen was no very substantial protection; while the statement that


'at length there came some [Orcs] nigh even to those woods and glades


that were beloved of Turambar and his folk' seems at variance with


Turambar's saying to Niniel earlier that 'we are hard put to it to fend


those evil ones from our homes' (p. 100). There is no mention here of


Turambar's pledge to Niniel that he would go to battle only if the homes


of the Woodmen were assailed (Narn pp. 125 -- 6); and there is no figure


corresponding to Dorlas of the later versions. Tamar's character, briefty


described (p. 106), is in accord so far as it goes with what is later told of


Brandir, but the relationship of Brandir to Niniel, who called him her


brother (Narn p. 124), had not emerged. The happiness and prosperity


of the Woodmen under Turambar's chieftainship is much more strongly


emphasized in the tale (afterwards he was not indeed the chieftain, at


least not in name); and it leads in fact to Glorund's greed as a motive for


his assault on them.


The topographical indications in this passage, important to the narra-


tive, are readily enough accommodated to the later accounts, with one


major exception: it is clear that in the old story the stream of the waterfall


that fell down to the Silver Bowl was the same as that which ran through


the gorge where Turambar slew Glorund:


Here flowed that same stream that further down wound past the


dragon's lair [lair = the place where he was lying) in a deep bed cloven 


deep into the earth (p. 105).


Thus Turambar and his companions, as he said,


will go down the rocks to the foot of the fall, and so gaining the path of


the stream perchance we may come as nigh to the drake as may be:


(ibid.).


In the final story, on the other hand, the falling stream (Celebros) was a


tributary of Teiglin; cf. the Narn p. 127:


Now the river Teiglin... flowed down from Ered Wethrin swift as


Narog, but at first between low shores, until after the Crossings,


gathering power from other streams, it clove a way through the feet of,


the highlands upon which stood the Forest of Brethil. Thereafter it ran


in deep ravines, whose great sides were like walls of rock, but pent at


the bottom the waters flowed with great force and noise. And right


in the path of Glaurung there lay now one of these gorges, by no means


the deepest, but the narrowest, just north of the inflow of Celebros.








The pleasant place ('a green sward where grew a wealth of flowers')


survived; cf. the Narn p. 123: 'There was a wide greensward at the


head of the falls, and birches grew about it.' So also did the 'Silver


Bowl', though the name was lost: 'the stream [Celebros] went over a


lip of worn stone, and fell down by many foaming steps into a rocky bowl


far below' (Narn, ibid.,- cf. the tale p. 105: it fell over a great fall where


the water-worn rock jutted smooth and grey from amid the grass'). The


'little hill' or 'knoll', 'islanded among the trees', from which Turambar


and his companions looked out is not so described in the Narn, but the


picture of a high place and lookout near the head of the falls remained, as


may be seen from the statement in the Narn (p. 123) that from Nen


Girith 'there was a wide view towards the ravines of Teiglin'; later (Narn


p. 128) it is said that it was Turambar's intention to 'ride to the high fall of


Nen Girith... whence he could look far across the lands'. It seems


certain, then, that the old image never faded, and was only a little


changed.


While in both old and late accounts a great concourse of the people


follow Turambar to the head of the falls against his bidding, in the late


his motive for commanding them not to come is explicit: they are to


remain in their homes and prepare for flight. Here on the other hand


Niniel rides with Turambar to the head of Silver Bowl and says farewell


to him there. But a detail of the old story survived: Turambar's words to


Niniel 'Nor thou nor I die this day, nor yet tomorrow, by the evil of the


dragon or by the foemen's swords' are closely paralleled by his words to


her in the Narn (p. 129): 'Neither you nor I shall be slain by this Dragon,


nor by any foe of the North', and in the one account Niniel 'quelled her


weeping and was very still', while in the other she 'ceased to weep and fell


silent'. The situation is generally simpler in the tale, in that the Woodmen


are scarcely characterised; Tamar is not as Brandir the titular head of the


people, and this motive for bitterness against Turambar is absent, nor is


there a Dorlas to insult him or a Hunthor to rebuke Dorlas. Tamar is


however present with Niniel at the same point in the story, having girded


himself with a sword: 'and many scoffed at him for that', just as it is


afterwards said of Brandir that he had seldom done so before (Narn


P. 132).


Turambar here set out from the head of the falls with six companions,


all of whom proved in the end fainthearted, whereas later he had only


two, Dorlas and Hunthor, and Hunthor remained staunch, though killed


by a falling stone in the gorge. But the result is the same, in that


Turambar must climb the further cliff of the gorge alone. Here the


dragon remained where he lay near the brink of the cliff all night,


and only moved with the dawn, so that his death and the events that


immediately followed it took place by daylight. But in other respects


the killing of the dragon remained even in many details much as it


Was originally written, more especially if comparison is made with the


Narn (p. 134), where there reappears the need for Turambar and his











companion(s) to move from their first station in order to come up directly


under the belly of the beast (this is passed over in The Silmarillion).


Two notable points in this section remain to be mentioned; both are


afterthoughts pencilled into the manuscript. In the one we meet for the


first time Mim the Dwarf as the captain of Glorund's guard over his


treasure during his absence -- a strange choice for the post, one would


think. On this matter see p. 137 below. In the other it is said that Niniel


conceived a child by Turambar, which, remarkably enough, is not said in


the text as originally written; on this see p. 135.


(x) The deaths of Turin and Nienori (pp. 108-12).


In the conclusion of the story the structure remained the same from the


old tale to the Narn: the moonlight, the tending of Turambar's burnt


hand, the cry of Niniel that stirred the dragon to his final malice, the


accusation by the dragon that Turambar was a stabber of foes unseen,


Turambar's naming Tamar/Brandir 'Club-foot' and sending him to


consort with the dragon in death, the sudden withering of the leaves


at the place of Nienor's leap as if it were already the end of autumn,


the invocation of Nienor to the waters and of Turambar to his sword, the


raising of Turin's mound and the inscription in 'strange signs' upon it.


Many other features could be added. But there are also many differences;


here I refer only to some of the most important.


Mablung being absent from the old story, it is only Turambar's


intuition ('being free now of blindness' -- the blindness that Melko


'wove of old', p. 83)* that informs him that Tamar was telling the


truth. The slaying of Glaurung and all its aftermath is in the late story


compassed in the course of a single night and the morning of the next


day, whereas in the tale it is spread over two nights, the intervening day,


and the morning of the second. Turambar is carried back to the people on


the hill-top by the three deserters who had left him in the ravine, whereas


in the late story he comes himself. (Of the slaying of Dorlas by Brandir


there is no trace in the tale, and the taking of a sword by Tamar has no


issue.)


Particularly interesting is the result of the changing of the place where


Turin and Nienori died. In the tale there is only one river, and Niniel


follows the stream up through the woods and casts herself over the falls of


Silver Bowl (in the place afterwards called Nen Girith), and here too, in


the glade above the falls, Turambar slew himself; in the developed story


her death-leap was into the ravine of Teiglin at Cabed-en-Aras, the


Deer's Leap, near the spot where Turambar lay beside Glaurung, and


here Turambar's death took place also. Thus Niniel's sense of dread


when she first came to Silver Bowl with the Woodmen who rescued her


(* Cf. his words to Mablung in the Narn, p. 144: 'For see, I am blind! Did you not know?


Blind, blind, groping since childhood in a dark mist of Morgoth!')





(p. 101) foreboded her own death in that place, but in the changed story


there is less reason for a foreknowledge of evil to come upon her there.


But while the place was changed, the withering of the leaves remained,


and the awe of the scene of their deaths, so that none would go to


Cabed-en-Aras after, as they would not set foot on the grass above Silver


Bowl.


The most remarkable feature of the earliest version of the story of


Turambar and Niniel is surely that as my father first wrote it he did not


say that she had conceived a child by him (note 25); and thus there is


nothing in the old story.corresponding to Glaurung's words to her: 'But


the worst of all his deeds thou shalt feel in thyself' (Narn p. 138). The


fact that above all accounts for Nienor's utter horror and despair was


added to the tale later.


In concluding this long analysis of the Tale of Turambar proper the


absence of place-names in the later part of it may be remarked. The


dwelling of the Rodothlim is not named, nor the river that flowed past it;


no name is given to the forest where the Woodmen dwelt, to their village,


or even to the stream of such central importance at the end of the story


(contrast Nargothrond, Narog, Tumhalad, Amon Ethir, Brethil, Amon


Obel, Ephel Brandir, Teiglin, Celebros of the later narratives).


The further narrative of Eltas


(after the death of Turin).


My father struck out the greater part of this continuation, allowing it


to stand only as far as the words 'by reason of her great unhappiness' on


p. 113 (see note 31). From the brief passage that was retained it is seen


that the story of Morwen's coming to the stone on Turin's mound goes


back to the beginning, though in the later story she met Hurin there (The


Silmarillion, p. 229).


The rejected part continues as follows:


Yet it is said also that when the doom of his folk was utterly fulfilled


then was Urin released by Melko, and bowed with age he fared back


into the better lands. There did he gather some few to him, and they


went and found the caverns of the Rothwarin [earlier form for


Rodothlim, see p. 119] empty, and none guarded them, and a mighty


treasury lay there still for none had found it, in that the terror of the


drake lived longer than he and none had ventured thither again. But


Urin let bear the gold even before Linwe [i.e. Tinwelint], and casting


it before his feet bade him bitterly to take his vile reward, naming him a


craven by whose faint heart had much evil fallen to his house that


might never have been; and in this began a new estrangement between


Elves and Men, for Linwe was wroth at Urin's words and bid him


begone, for said he: "Long did I foster Turin thy son and forgave him











the evil of his deeds, and afterward thy wife I succoured, giving way


against my counsel to her wild desires. Yet what is it to me -- and


wherefore dost thou, 0 son of the uncouth race of Men, endure to


upbraid a king of the Eldalie, whose life began in Palisor ages uncounted


before Men were born?" And then Urin would have gone, but his men


were not willing to leave the gold there, and a dissension arose between


them and the Elves, and of this grew bitter blows, and Tintoglin [i.e.


Tinwelint] might not stay them.


There then was Urin's band slain in his halls, and they stained with


their blood the dragon's hoard; but Urin escaped and cursed that gold


with a dread curse so that none might enjoy it, and he that held any


part of it found evil and death to come of it. But Linwe hearing that


curse caused the gold to be cast into a deep pool of the river before his


doors, and not for very long did any see it again save for the Ring of


Doom [emended to: the Necklace of the Dwarves], and that tale


belongs not here, although therein did the evil of the worm Glorund


find its last fulfilment.


(The last phrase is an addition to the text.) The remainder of this


rejected narrative, concerning the final fates of Urin and Mavwin and


their children, is essentially the same as in the replacement text given on


p. 115 ('Then Urin departed...') and need not be given.


Immediately following the rejected narrative there is a short outline


headed 'Story of the Nauglafring or the Necklace of the Dwarves', and


this also was struck through. Here there is no mention of Urin at all, but


it is told that the Orcs (emended from Congs, see I. 245 note 10) who


guarded the treasury of Glorund went in search of him when he did not


come back to the caves, and in their absence Tintoglin (i.e. Tinwelint),


learning of Glorund's death, sent Elves to steal thehoard of the Rothwarin


(i.e. Rodothlim). The Orcs returning cursed the thieves, and they


cursed the gold also.


Linwe (i.e. Tinwelint) guarded the gold, and he had a great necklace


made by certain Uvanimor (Nautar or Nauglath). (Uvanimor have been


defined in an earlier tale as 'monsters, giants, and ogres', see I. 75, 236;


Nauglath are Dwarves, I. 236). In this Necklace the Silmaril was set;


but the curse of the gold was on him, and he defrauded them of part of


their reward. The Nauglath plotted, and got aid of Men; Linwe was slain


in a raid, and the gold carried away.


There follows another rejected outline, headed 'The Necklace of the


Dwarves', and this combines features of the preceding outline with


features of the rejected ending of Eltas' narrative (pp. 135 -- 6). Here Urin


gathers a band of Elves and Men who are wild and fierce, and they go to


the caves, which are lightly guarded because the 'Orqui' (i.e. Orcs) are


abroad seeking Glorund. They carry off the treasure, and the Orcs


returning curse it. Urin casts the treasure before the king and reproaches





him (saying that he might have sent a greater company to the caves to


secure the treasure, if not to aid Mavwin in her distress); 'Tintoglin


would not touch it and bid Urin hold what he had won, but Urin would


depart with bitter words'. Urin's men were not willing to leave it, and


they sneaked back; there was an affray in the king's halls, and much


blood was spilt on the gold. The outline concludes thus:


The Gongs sack Linwe's halls and Linwe is slain and the gold is carried


far away. Beren Ermabwed falls upon them at a crossing of Sirion and


the treasure is cast into the water, and with it the Silmaril of Feanor.


The Nauglath that dwell nigh dive after the gold but only one mighty


necklace of gold (and that Silmaril is on it) do they find. This becomes


a mark of their king.


These two outlines are partly concerned with the story of the


Nauglafring and show my father pondering that story before he wrote it;


there is no need to consider these elements here. It is evident that he was


in great doubt as to the further course of the story after the release of Urin


-- what happened to the dragon's hoard? Was it guarded or unguarded,


and if guarded by whom? How did it come at last into Tinwelint's hands?


Who cursed it, and at what point in the story? If it was Urin and his band


that seized it, were they Men or Elves or both?


In the final text, written on slips placed in the manuscript book and


given above pp. 113 -- 16, these questions were resolved thus: Urin's band


was at first Men, then changed to Elves (see note 33); the treasure was


guarded by the dwarf Mim, whom Urin slew, and it was he who cursed


the gold as he died; Urin's band became a baggage-train to carry the


treasure to Tinwelint in sacks and wooden boxes (and they got it


to the bridge before the king's door in the heart of the forest


without, apparently, any difficulty). In this text there is no hint of what


happened to the treasure after Urin's departure (because the Tale of the


Nauglafring begins at that point).


Subsequent to the writing of the Tale of Turambar proper, my father


inserted Mim into the text at an earlier point in the story (see pp. 1o3, 118


note 26), making him the captain of the guard appointed by Glorund to


watch the treasure in his absence; but whether this was written in before


or after the appearance of Mim at the end (pp. 113 -- 14) -- whether it


represents a different idea, or is an explanation of how Mim came to be


there -- I cannot say.


In The Silmarillion (pp. 230 --z) the story is wholly changed, in that


the treasure remained in Nargothrond, and Hurin after the slaying of


Mim (for a far better reason than that in the early narrative) brought


nothing from it to Doriath save the Necklace of the Dwarves.


Of the astonishing feature at the end of Eltas' narrative (pp. 115 -- 16)


of the 'deification' of Turin Turambar and Nienori (and the refusal of


the Gods of Death to open their doors to them) it must be said that





nowhere is there any explanation given- though in much later versions of


the mythology Turin Turambar appears in the Last Battle and smites


Morgoth with his black sword. The purifying bath into which Turin and


Nienori entered, called Fos'Almir in the final text, was in the rejected


text named Fauri; in the Tale of the Sun and Moon it has been


described (I. 187), but is there given other names: Tanyasalpe, Faskala-


numen, and Faskalan.


There remains one further scrap of text to be considered. The second


of the rejected outlines given above (pp. 136-7) was written in ink over a


pencilled outline that was not erased, and I have been able to disinter a


good deal of it from beneath the later writing. The two passages have


nothing to do with each other; for some reason my father did not trouble


in this case to erase earlier writing. The underlying text, so far as I can


make it out, reads:


Tiranne and Vainoni fall in with the evil magician Kuruki who gives


them a baneful drink. They forget their names and wander distraught


in the woods. Vainoni is lost. She meets Turambar who saves her from


Orcs and aids in her search for her mother. They are wed and live in


happiness. Turambar becomes lord of rangers of the woods and a


harrier of the Orcs. He goes to seek out the Foaloke which ravages his


land. The treasure-heap -- and flight of his band. He slays the Foaloke


and is wounded. Vainoni succours him, but the dragon in dying tells


her all, lifting the veil Kuruki has set over them. Anguish of Turambar


and Vainoni. She flees into the woods and casts herself over a waterfall.


Madness of Turambar who dwells alone.......... Urin escapes


from Angamandi and seeks Tiranne. Turambar flees from him and


falls upon his sword.......................... Urin builds a cairn


and............ doom of Melko. Tiranne dies of grief and Urin


reaches Hisilome...........................................


Purification of Turambar and Vainoni who fare shining about the


world and go with the hosts of Tulkas against Melko.


Detached jottings follow this, doubtless written at the same time:


Urin escapes. Tiranne learns of Turin. Both wander distraught... in


the wood.


Turin leaves Linwe for in a quarrel he slew one of Linwe's kin


(accidentally).


Introduce Failivrin element into the story?


Turambar unable to fight because of Foaloke's eyes. Sees Failivrin


depart.


This can only represent some of my father's very earliest meditations


on the story of Turin Turambar. (That it appears in the notebook at the





end of the fully-written Tale may seem surprising, but he clearly used


these books in a rather eccentric way.) Nienori is here called Vainoni,


and Mavwin Tiranne'; the spell of forgetfulness is here laid by a magician


named Kuruki, although it is the dragon who lifts the veil that the


magician set over them. Turin's two encounters with the dragon seem to


have emerged from an original single one.


As I have mentioned before, the Tale of Turambar, like others of the


Lost Tales, is written in ink over a wholly erased pencilled text, and


the extant form of the tale is such that it could only be derived from a


rougher draft preceding it; but the underlying text is so completely


erased that there is no clue as to what stage it had reached in the


development of the legend. It may well be -- I think it is extremely


probable -- that in this outline concerning Vainoni, Tiranne, and Kuruki


we glimpse by an odd chance a 'layer' in the Turin-saga older even than


the erased text underlying the extant version.


$3. Miscellaneous Matters.


(i) Beren.


The rejected passage given on p. 71, together with the marginal note 'If


Beren be a Gnome (as now in the story of Tinuviel) the references


to Beren must be altered' (note 4), is the basis for my assertion (p. 52)


that in the earliest, now lost, form of the Tale of Tinuvie! Beren was a


Man. I have shown, I hope, that the extant form of the Tale of Turambar


preceded the extant form of the Tale of Tinuviel (p. 6g). Beren was a


Man, and akin to Manwin, when the extant Turambar was written; he


became a Gnome in the extant Tinuviel; and this change was then


written into Turambar. What the replacement passage on p. 72 does


is to change the relation of Egnor and Beren from kinship with Urin's


wife to friendship with Urin. (A correction to the typescript version of


Tinuviel, p. 45, is later: making the comradeship of Urin with Beren


rather than with Egnor.) Two further changes to the text of Turambar


consequent on the change in Beren from Man to Elf are given in notes 5


and 6. -- It is interesting to observe that in the developed genealogy of The


Silmarillion, when Beren was of course again a Man, he was also again


akin to Morwen: for Beren was first cousin to Morwen's father Baragund.


In the rejected passage on p. 71 my father wrote against the name


Egnor 'Damrod the Gnome' (note 2), and in the amended passage he


wrote that Urin had known Beren 'and had rendered him a service once


in respect of Damrod his son'. There is no clue anywhere as to what this


service may have been; but in the second of the 'schemes' for The Book


of Lost Tales (see I. 233 -- 4) the outline for the Tale of the Nauglafring


refers to the son of Beren and Tinuviel, the father of Elwing, by the name


Daimord, although in the actual tale as written the son is as he was to


remain Dior. Presumably Daimord is to be equated with Damrod.











I cannot explain the insertion of 'Damrod the Gnome' against 'Egnor' in


the rejected passage -- possibly it was no more than a passing idea, to


give the name Damrod to Beren's father.


It may be noticed here that both the rejected and the replacement


passages make it very clear that the events of the story of Beren and


Tinuviel took place before the Battle of Unnumbered Tears; see


pp.65-6.


(ii) The Battle of Tasarinan.


It is said at the beginning of the present tale (p. 7o) that it 'tells of very


ancient days of that folk [Men] before the Battle of Tasarinan when first


Men entered the dark vales of Hisilome'.


On the face of it this offers an extreme contradiction, since it is said


many times that Men were shut in Hisilome at the time of the Battle of


Unnumbered Tears, and the Tale of Turambar takes place -- must take


place -- after that battle. The solution lies, however, in an ambiguity in


the sentence just cited. My father did not mean that this was a tale of Men


in ancient days of that folk before they entered Hisilome; he meant 'this is


a tale of the ancient days when Men first entered Hisilome -- long before


the Battle of Tasarinan'.


Tasarinan is the Land of Willows, Nan-tathren in TheSilmarillion;


the early word-lists or dictionaries give the 'Elvish' form tasarin 'willow'


and the Gnomish tathrin.* The Battle of Tasarinan took place long after,


in the course of the great expedition from Valinor for the release of the


enslaved Noldoli in the Great Lands. See pp. 219 -- 2o.


(iii) The geography of the Tale of Turambar.


The passage describing the route of the Orcs who captured Turin (p. 77)


seems to give further support to the idea that 'the mountains fencing 


Hisilome from the Lands Beyond were continuous with those above


Angband' (p. 6z); for it is said here that the Orcs 'followed ever the


line of dark hills toward those regions where they rise high and gloomy


and their heads are shrouded in black vapours', and 'there are they


called Angorodin or the Iron Mountains, for beneath the roots of their


northernmost fastnesses lies Angband'.


The site of the caves of the Rodothlim, agreeing well with what is said


later of Nargothrond, has been discussed already (p. 123), as has the


topography of the Silver Bowl and the ravine in which Turambar slew


Glorund, in relation to the later Teiglin, Celebros, and Nen Girith


(pp. 132-3). There are in addition some indications in the tale of how the


caves of the Rodothlim related to Tinwelint's kingdom and to the land


(* Tasarinan survived as the Quenya name without change: 'the willow-meads of


Tasarinan' in Treebeard's song in The Two Towers, III.y.)





where the Woodmen dwelt. It is said (p. 95) that 'the dwellings of the


Rodothlim were not utterly distant from the realm of Tinwelint, albeit


far enough'; while the Woodmen dwelt 'in lands that were not utterly


far from Sirion or the grassy hills of that river's middle course'


(p. 91), which may be taken to agree tolerably with the situation of the


Forest of Brethil. The region where they lived is said in the same passage


to have been 'very far away many a journey beyond the river of the


Rodothlim', and Glorund's wrath was great when he heard of 'a brave


folk of Men that dwelt far beyond the river' (p. 103); this also can be


accommodated quite well to the developed geographical conception --


Brethil was indeed a good distance beyond the river (Narog) for one


setting out from Nargothrond.


My strong impression is that though the geography of the west of the


Great Lands may have been still fairly vague, it already had, in many


important respects, the same essential structure and relations as those


seen on the map accompanying The Silmarillion.


(iv) The influence of the Valar.


As in the Tale of Tinuviel (see p. 68), in the Tale of Turambar also there


are several references to the power of the Valar in the affairs of Men and


Elves in the Great Lands -- and to prayers, both of thanksgiving and


request, addressed to them: thus Turin's guardians 'thanked the Valar'


that they accomplished the journey to Artanor (p. 72), and more remark-


ably, Urin 'called upon the Valar of the West, being taught much


concerning them by the Eldar of Kor -- the Gnomes he had encountered --


and his words came, who shall say how, to Manwe Sulimo upon the


heights of Taniquetil'(p. 77). (Urin was already an 'Elf-friend', instructed


by the Noldoli; cf. the replacement passage on p. 72.) Was his prayer


'answered'? Possibly this is the meaning of the very strange expression 'as


the luck of the Valar had it' (p. 79), when Flinding and Beleg found


Turin lying near the point where they entered the Orc-camp.*


Dreams sent by the Valar came to the chieftains of the Rodothtim,


though this was changed later and the reference to the Valar removed


(p. 83 and note 10); the Woodmen said 'Would that the Valar would lift


the spell that lies upon Niniel' (p. 101); and Turin 'cried out bitterly


against the Valar and his fate of woe' (p. 111).


An interesting reference to the Valar (and their power) occurs in


Tinwelint's reply (p. 95) to Mavwin's words 'Give me but a woodman's


cot and my son'. The king said: 'That I cannot, for I am but a king of the


wild Elves, and no Vala of the westernisles.' In the small part of


Gilfanon's Tale that was actually written it is told (I. 231) of the Dark


Elves who remained in Palisor that they said that 'their brethren had gone





(*The Gnomish dictionary has the entry: gwalt 'good luck -- any providential occurrence


or through: "the luck of the Valar", i-walt ne Vanion' (I.272). )





westward to the Shining Isles. There, said they, do the Gods dwell, and


they called them the Great Folk of the West, and thought they dwelt on


firelit islands in the sea.'


(v) Turin's age.


According to the Tale of Turambar, when Turin left Mavwin he was


seven years old, and it was after he had dwelt among the woodland Elves


for seven years that all tidings from his home ceased (p. 74); in the Narn


the corresponding years are eight and nine, and Turin was seventeen, not


fourteen, when 'his grief was renewed' (pp. 68, 76 -- 7). It was exactly


twelve years to the day of his departure from Mavwin when he slew Orgof


and fled from Artanor (p. 75), when he was nineteen; in the Narn (p. 79)


it was likewise twelve years since he left Hithlum when he hunted Saeros


to his death, but he was twenty.


'The tale tells not the number of days that Turambar sojourned with


the Rodothlim but these were very many, and during that time Nienori


grew to the threshold of womanhood'(pp. 91-- z). Nienori was seven years


younger than Turin: she was twelve when he fled from Artanor (ibid.).


He cannot then have dwelt among the Rodothlim for more than (say) five


or six years; and it is said that when he was chosen chieftain of the


Woodmen he possessed 'wisdom great beyond his years'.


Bethos, chieftain of the Woodmen before Turin, 'had fought though


then but a boy in the Battle of Unnumbered Tears' (p. 101), but he was


killed in a foray, since 'despite his years he still rode abroad'. But


it is impossible to relate Bethos' span (from 'a boy' at the Battle of


Unnumbered Tears to his death on a foray at an age sufficiently ripe


to be remarked on) to Turin's; for the events after the destruction


of the Rodothlim, culminating in Turin's rescue of Niniel after her first


encounter with Glorund, cannot cover any great length of time. What is


clear and certain is that in the old story Turin died when still a very young


man. According to the precise dating provided in much later writing, he


was 35 years old at his death.


(vi) The stature of Elves and Men.


The Elves are conceived to be of slighter build and stature than Men: so


Beleg 'was of great stature and girth as such was among that folk'


(p. 73), and Turin 'was a Man and of greater stature than they', i.e. Beleg


and Flinding (p. 8o) -- this sentence being an emendation from 'he was a


Man of great size' (note 8). See on this matter I. 32, 235.


(vii) Winged Dragons.


At the end of The Silmarillion (p. 252) Morgoth 'loosed upon his foes the


last desperate assault that he had prepared, and out of the pits of


Angband there issued the winged dragons, that had not before been


seen'. The suggestion is that winged dragons were a refinement of


Morgoth's original design (embodied in Glaurung, Father of Dragons


who went upon his belly). According to the Tale of Turambar (pp. g6 -- 7),


on the other hand, among Melko's many dragons some were smaller, cold


like snakes, and of these many were flying creatures; while others, the


mightier, were hot and heavy, fire-dragons, and these were unwinged.


As already noted (p. 125) there is no suggestion in the tale that Glorund


was the first of his kind.


